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Dear all Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors, | hereby present the annual report
of Vitop Bioenergy Holdings Limited for the year ended 30 June 2008.

It was a difficult year under review, with the continuous downturn in
the healthcare industry of the PRC as well as the rapid development
of new marketing modes such as network marketing. Those healthcare
companies which adopt meeting marketing mode were facing with an
extreme hardship condition. The customers of those companies
adopting meeting marketing were rapidly distracted by other new
marketing modes as though, the consolidated turnover of the Group
still increased approximately by HK$6.89 million or approximately
6.61% over the same period of last year. Its gross profit margin
increased approximately by 2.60% to approximately 44.25%,
compared with approximately 41.65% over the same period of last
year. Share option expense increased significantly by approximately
HK$8.62 million this year, resulting in the loss of the Group for the year
amounted to approximately HK$10.04 million. However, if share option
expense was excluded, actual operational loss would be reduced to
approximately HK$1.42 million.

As the global economic downturn brought about by the sub-prime
mortgage credit crisis in the United States has badly impaired the
consumers’ desire of purchase. Further, the costs of production and
raw materials are continually uprising, the Group deeply believes that
the operating in pearl river delta area would remain adverse and tough
in the coming year. However, despite of this, the Group has made all
its best efforts to secure a stream of steady operating income. Among
them, brand planning was one of the major measures: having taken
the edges from the Beijing Olympic Games, and by way of
strengthening the strategic co-operation with the Training Bureau of
the General Administration of Sport (B & 42 /=715 /=), the Group
has launched successfully a marketing and planning activity named
as “Beijing Olympics Tour”. Under this, not only a steady operating
revenue was secured, but also a stable distribution network could be
effectively maintained.
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Notwithstanding such efforts, the Group still faces the difficult operating
environment. Therefore, the Group has realized that it should endeavor
to seek the huge breakthrough in order to overcome the hardship and
create a new environment for growth. Under the leadership of the new
board of directors, the Group has made active efforts and measures
focusing on the effective breakthrough of the existing marketing mode
and the innovate attempts of brand-new marketing modes.

In light of the existing marketing mode, the Group has made a
breakthrough mainly by introducing new products. The Group has taken
the advantages of own competitive position in function water industry
of the PRC to cooperate with a certain outstanding operators in the
industry and develop household water electronic products actively.
Some of the products are now put into trial sales, such as high-end
water purifiers and innovative water generators. In addition, our product
research and development department has put into efforts in areas of
function textile products and biological food products. Our research
team has devoted to strengthen the distributors’ network and effectively
secure a steady current sales by introducing competitive products.
Meanwhile, the Group has made attempts on various new marketing
modes, among which, the Group has rebuilt the existing distribution
network by applying new direct marketing mode and achieved some
breakthrough. Upon making further success in certain trial spots, it
will be popularized through our distribution network. Our efforts in the
new marketing mode would create a new path for the development of
the Group.

As the chairman of the board of directors, | would like to express my
sincere gratitude to our shareholders, customers, suppliers and
business partners for their full understanding and support during the
hard-time. The Group’s steady growth in the healthcare industry of
the PRC over the past 16 years has relied on the contributions of all
our staff and partners. | believe, with these supports, know-how and
experience built up over these 16 years, brand advantages and the
dedication of all our directors and staff, the Group will overcome any
difficulties and well position itself for next boom of growth.

Han Qingyun

Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 October 2008

Vitop Bioenergy Holdings Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWmE DM

The principal activities of the Group are manufacturing and trading of
multi-functional water generators, BlOenergy® products and healthcare
food products in the PRC.

It was a difficult year under review, with the continuous downturn in
the healthcare industry of the PRC as well as the rapid development
of new marketing modes such as network marketing. Those healthcare
companies which adopt meeting marketing mode were facing with an
extreme hardship condition. The customers of those companies
adopting meeting marketing were rapidly distracted by other new
marketing modes as though, the consolidated turnover of the Group
still increased approximately by HK$6.89 million or approximately
6.61% over the same period of last year. Its gross profit margin
increased approximately by 2.60% to approximately 44.25%,
compared with approximately 41.65% over the same period of last
year. Share option expense increased significantly by approximately
HK$8.62 million this year, resulting in the loss of the Group for the year
amounted to approximately HK$10.04 million. However, if share option
expense was excluded, actual operational loss would be reduced to
approximately HK$1.42 million.

MULTI-FUNCTIONAL WATER GENERATORS

During the year under review, the multi-functional water generators,
the core business of the Group, achieved a turnover of approximately
HK$60.84 million (2007: approximately HK$55.76 million), representing
approximately 54.75% of the Group’s turnover and an increase of
approximately 9.12% as compared with turnover of last year. The
increase in turnover was attributable to differentiate ourselves from
other competitors with the excellent after-sales services and has built
up good reputation among our customers. Gross profit margin
increased by approximately 3.14% to approximately 42.32% (2007:
approximately 39.18%). The increase in gross profit margin is due to a
change in sales products mix to include the sales of high-end multi-
functional water generators during the year.

HEALTHCARE FOOD PRODUCTS

For the year ended 30 June 2008, the healthcare food products
segment recorded a turnover of approximately HK$27.95 million (2007:
approximately HK$24.63 million), which accounted for approximately
25.15% of the Group’s turnover and represented an increase of
approximately 13.48% as compared with turnover of the previous year.
Gross profit margin increased by approximately 2.08% to approximately
45.03% (2007: approximately 42.95%). As our products are recognised
by our customers, the segment continued to achieve improved result.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWR DN

BIOENERGY® PRODUCTS

For the year ended 30 June 2008, the Bioenergy products segment
recorded a turnover of approximately HK$21.39 million (2007:
approximately HK$21.00 million), which accounted for approximately
19.25% of the Group’s turnover and represented an increase of
approximately 1.86% as compared with turnover of the previous year.
Gross profit margin increased by approximately1.50% to approximately
49.33% (2007: approximately 47.83%).

PLEDGE OF ASSETS AND INVESTMENTS

As at 30 June 2008, the Group’s gearing ratio, measured on the basis
of total borrowings as a percentage of total equity attributable to the
shareholders of the Company, was approximately 5.86% (2007:
approximately 6.21%), of which the bank loans of approximately
HK$3.27 million (2007:approximately HK$2.61 million) were secured
by a pledge of our financial assets designated at fair value through
profit or loss of HK$2.16 million and pledged bank deposit of
HK$20,000 (2007: financial assets designated at fair value through
profit or loss of HK$2.36 million and pledged bank deposit of
HK$20,000) and supported by a corporate guarantee executed by
the Company.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT

On 4 August 2007, the Company entered into an acquisition agreement
with the Merdeka Holdings Limited to acquire 18% equity interest in
the issued share capital of Access Boom Limited for a consideration
of HK$18 million. The consideration was satisfied by paying HK$5
million in cash to the Merdeka Holdings Limited and HK$13 million by
the allotment and issue of the consideration shares credited as fully
paid at the issue price of HK$0.35 by the Company to the Merdeka
Holdings Limited or its nominee. Access Boom Limited’s principal
business activity is in development and marketing of automobile lean-
burn fuel-saving instruments, electronic management system, turbo
engines and other related products in the PRC. The acquisition
constitutes a discloseable transaction of the Company, details of which
were disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 6 August
2007 and the circular of the Company dated 17 August 2007.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
OF SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATED
COMPANIES/JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES

During the year, there was no other material acquisition or disposal of
subsidiaries and associated companies/jointly controlled entities
conducted by the Group.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 30 June 2008, the Group employed a total of 239 (2007: 271)
employees, of which 233 were deployed in the PRC (2007: 265) and
6 (2007: 6) were deployed in Hong Kong. The total salaries (excluding
directors’ emoluments) for the year were approximately HK$24.16
million (2007: HK$17.53 million). Remuneration packages comprised
salary, mandatory provident fund, bonus, medical allowance and share
options.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK MANAGEMENT

The majority of the Group’s operations are located in the PRC, and
the main operational currencies are Hong Kong Dollars and Renminbi.
The Company is paying regular and active attention to Renminbi
exchange rate fluctuation and consistently assess exchange risks.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCE

The Group finances its operations with internally generated cash flows,
banking facilities, and proceeds from the new share placements. As
at 30 June 2008, the Group had aggregate available banking facilities
of HK$5.00 million (2007: HK$5.00 million), of which approximately
HK$3.27 million (2007: approximately HK$2.61 million) was utilized
and subject to floating market rates. The Group’s cash and bank
balance at that date amounted to approximately HK$10.20 million
(2007: approximately HK$30.56 million), which was denominated in
mainly Hong Kong dollars, and Renminbi. This together with unutilized
banking facilities will enable the Group to finance its operational needs.

As at 30 June 2008, the Group’s current ratio and quick ratio were
approximately 1.95 (2007: approximately 1.97) and approximately 1.33
(2007: approximately 1.56) respectively. At that date, the Group’s total
borrowing, was increased from approximately HK$2.61 million as at
30 June 2007 to approximately HK$3.27 million, which included
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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revolving loan borrowing and term loan borrowing of HK$2.50 million
(2007: HK$1.0 million) and approximately HK$0.77 million (2007:
approximately HK$1.61 million) respectively. The increase in total
borrowing was due to the increment of financing activities.

LITIGATION
Detail of the litigation is set out in note 29(b) to the financial statements.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group’s bank loan facility amounting to HK$5 million (2007: HK$5
million) is supported by a corporate guarantee executed by the
Company.

Save as disclosed above and that in the note 29 to the financial
statements, neither the Group nor the Company had any significant
contingent liabilities at the balance sheet date.

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECT

The Board noted that the operating environment in the healthcare
sector will continue to be challenging in the coming year. With the
rapidly upsurging raw material and labour costs and the high operating
costs in both Hong Kong and the PRC are eroding the Group’s profit.
The Group will continue to tighten its cost control measurement so as
to improve the efficiency in operation and minimize operating costs.
The Group will also implement conservative strategies on new
investments and assess the prospects of the existing investments in
light of the current market environment.

During the year under review, the Group has achieved in diversification
on business. In August 2007, the Group entered into an acquisition
agreement to acquire 18% equity interest in the issued share capital
of Access Boom Limited. Access Boom Limited’s principal business
activity is in development and marketing of automobile lean-burn fuel-
saving instruments, electronic management system, turbo engines and
other related products in the PRC.

The Group believes that the acquisition provides a good opportunity
for the Group to diversify its business, which will enable the Group to
achieve profitability.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEREE

The directors present their report and the audited financial statements
of Vitop Bioenergy Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the
year ended 30 June 2008.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are manufacturing and trading of
multi-functional water generators, BlOenergy® products, healthcare
food products and other healthcare products in the People’s Republic
of China, excluding Hong Kong and Macau.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2008 and the
state of affairs of the Group and the Company as at that date are set
out in the financial statements on pages 35 to 115.

The directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend to
shareholders of the Company for the years ended 30 June 2008 and
2007 respectively.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and the assets, liabilities and
minority interests of the Group for the last five financial years is set out
on page 116. This summary does not form part of the audited financial
statements.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable donations of approximately
HK$0.27 million (2007: HK$0.36 million).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the Group’s property, plant and equipment
during the year are set out in note 15 to the financial statements.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Details of the movement in the Group’s intangible assets during the
year is set out in note 16 to the financial statements.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEREE

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital and share
options during the year, together with the reasons therefore, are set
out in notes 25 and 26 to the financial statements, respectively.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, being the
jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the year, there were no purchases, sales or redemptions by the
Company, or any of its subsidiaries, of the Company’s listed securities.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and note 27 to the financial statements, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 30 June 2008, the Company’s reserve available for distribution,
calculated in accordance with the Companies Law, Cap.22 (Law 3 of
1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands, amounted
to approximately HK$31.09 million. This includes the Company’s share
premium account, in the capital amount of approximately HK$64.15
million as at 30 June 2008, which may be distributed provided that
immediately following the date on which the dividend is proposed to
be distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as
and when they fall due in the ordinary course of business. The share
premium account may also be distributed in the form of fully paid bonus
shares.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year under review, the percentage of sales to the Group’s
five largest customers accounted for approximately 35.73% of the
Group’s total sales for the year and sales to the largest customer
included therein amounted to approximately 11.81%. Purchases from
the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 78.64%
of the total purchases for the year and purchases from the largest
supplier included therein amounted to approximately 33.67%.

To the best knowledge of the directors, neither the directors, their
associates, nor any shareholders who owned more than 5.0% of the
Company’s issued share capital, had any beneficial interest in the
Group’s five largest customers and/or five largest suppliers during the
year.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were as follows:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Han Qingyun (Chairman)
(appointed as executive director on 15 April 2008 and
re-designated from executive director
to chairman on 28 April 2008)
Mr. Han Xiaoyue (Joint Chairman)
Mr. Chen Henglong
Mr. Zhang He
Mr. Xu Nian Chun
(appointed on 15 April 2008)
Ms. Guo Yan Ni
(appointed on 15 April 2008)
Mr. Long Minfei
(appointed on 28 April 2008)
Mr. Tse Kam Fai
(appointed on 25 February 2008 and
resigned on 15 April 2008)
Mr. Hung Kai So
(resigned on 25 February 2008)
Mr. Liu Jun
(resigned on 28 April 2008)
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Chan Yuk Tong
(re-designated from executive director to non-executive director
on 25 February 2008)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Li Xinzhong
(appointed on 25 February 2008)
Mr. Zhang Wen
(appointed on 15 April 2008)
Ms. Zhu Jing Hua
(appointed on 15 April 2008)
Mr. Yuan Tsu |
(resigned on 28 February 2008)
Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex
(resigned on 28 February 2008)
Professor Li Li Te
(resigned on 15 April 2008)
Mr. Zhang Fan
(appointed on 25 February 2008 and
resigned on 15 April 2008)

In accordance with article 86(3) of the articles of association of the
Company, Mr. Han Qingyun, Mr. Xu Nian Chun, Ms. Guo Yan Ni,
Mr. Long Minfei, Ms. Zhu Jing Hua, Mr. Zhang Wen and Mr. Li Xinzhong
shall hold office only until the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company and shall be eligible for re-election. Mr. Han Qingyun,
Mr. Xu Nian Chun, Ms. Guo Yan Ni, Mr. Long Minfei, Ms. Zhu Jing Hua,
Mr. Zhang Wen and Mr. Li Xinzhong, being eligible, will offer themselves
for re-election at the meeting.

In accordance with article 87(1) of the articles of association of the
Company, Mr. Chan Yuk Tong will retire by rotation at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company. Mr. Chan Yuk Tong, being
eligible, will offer himself for re-election at the meeting.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BORGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 20 to 24 of the annual
report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of. Mr. Han Qingyun, Mr. Xu Nian Chun, Ms. Guo Yan Ni,
Mr. Long Minfei, Ms. Zhu Jing Hua, Mr. Zhang Wen and Mr. Li Xinzhong,
has not entered into a director’s service agreement with the Company.
They are not appointed for a specific term but are subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at the annual general meetings of the
Company in accordance with the articles of association of the
Company. Either the Company or they may terminate the appointment
by giving at least three months’ notice in writing.

Save as disclosed above, no director proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the
Company, which is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in note 30 to the financial statements under the
heading “Related Party Transactions”, there were no other contracts
of significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a
party and in which a director of the Company had a material interests,
whether or any directly or indirectly subsisting at the end of the year or
at any time during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT I RE
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING

SHARES AND DEBENTURES
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As at 30 June 2008, the interests and short positions of the directors RIZZBENFERNA=ZTH  ARAZEERAR
of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of Al H MR AE (EE R BB EMNFESE
the Company or any associated corporation (within the meaning of &5 REIEEH] ([EH K EEG]) EBEXVED)
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the MR - BEARO MEEZEPEERERES R
Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFQ”)) as recorded in the register required BIEIEPIZE35215 B TR BN B MATER 8RR
to be kept under section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to B MIAR  IRBE LT AR ETETEER
the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the SEREFR ([EESFR) BBANARRRE
“Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model Code for Securities BEAE X SHARAT (TBRPT]) Bz Kok
Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies (the “Model Code”), BT

were as follows:

LONG POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND RAERBRG REERGHNTE
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY
Number of
underlying
shares held Approximate
Number of pursuant to Aggregate percentage
Name of directors Capacity shares held share options interest of interest
R BE R FE
BEN xR
EEHE 5% FEROEE HEROGHE s BHED L
Han Xiaoyue Interest of 3,805,112 5,584,000 9,389,112 1.28%
controlled (note 1)
corporation
BRI REEEENER (BH3E1)
Han Qingyun Interest of 200,000,000 - 200,000,000 27.19%
controlled (note 2)
corporation
BESE REEEEN#ER (P 7E2)
Chen Henglong Beneficial owner 52,200,000 6,584,000 58,784,000 7.99%
FR 1B 3E EmEA A
Note 1: These 3,805,112 shares are owned by Portton Investments Limited MsE1 : 3% % 3,805,112 % Jh A Portton
(“Portton”), the issued share capital of which is beneficially owned by Investments Limited ([Portton]) ##& -
Mr. Han Xiaoyue (the joint-chairman of the Company) and Portton 2 1T IR A~ 82 % BR 25 A4 (AR 2 )k
Mr. Wang Jiandong as to 66.67% and 33.33% respectively. Each of BERE) RERREEDFIEREEGC6.67%
Mr. Han Xiaoyue and Mr. Wang Jiandong are deemed to be interested 1:33.33% ° IRIRFEFH K EFEIEHIZEXVED -
in these 3,805,112 shares under Part XV of the SFO. Portton is wholly BERBLTERTER AR AEEZSE
owned by Power Field International Limited. 3,805,112[% A& 5 BV #E %= © Portton Power

Field International Limited % & H& °

Note 2: 181,843,836 shares held by Wide Cosmos International Holdings Co BizE2 © 181,843,836 INAHEEZLEESHESR

Ltd which is beneficially owned by Mr. Han Qingyun. Mr. Han Qingyun #)Wide Cosmos International Holdings Co

also personally holds 18,156,164 shares in the Company. LtdisH - BEZSLENREAZE AR A
18,156,164 IZ 17 ©
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Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2008, none of the directors of
the Company had any interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any associated
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the
SFO, or otherwise to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The directors’ fee is subject to shareholders’ approval at general
meeting. Other emoluments are determined by the Company’s board
of directors or its remuneration committee with reference to directors’
duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OF
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the share option scheme disclosures in note 26
to the financial statements, at no time during the year was the Company
or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the
directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debt securities including debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate and none of the directors or
their spouses or children under the age of 18 had any right to subscribe
for securities of the Company, or had exercised any such right during
the year.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Details of the share option scheme are set out in note 26 to the financial
statements.
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INTEREST AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDRS/OTHER
PERSONS RECORDED IN THE REIGHSTER
KEPT UNDER SECTION 336 OF THE SFO

As at 30 June 2008, so far as the directors of the Company are aware
of and having made due enquires, the interests and short positions of
the substantial shareholders/persons (other than the directors of the
Company) in the shares and underlying shares of the Company as
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336 of the
SFO were as follows:

LONG POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMAPNY

T

REBEZ R BEKAIF336

RA T FE NS LM AT &
MEZERR Hi AL
mRRE

KoPBAEAASHA  RAARNEFHA

RIEHERR - BIEEH KRB EHIF3361%
ATHENELMARE - NRARERIAING
TERRATEARR B RABRERND 5
BOERFOARIT

RAERTRD REBRDNER

Number of
underlying
shares held Approximate
Name of Number of pursuant to Aggregate percentage
shareholders Capacity shares held share options interest of interest
RIEERE
BFEN =
RERZA 47 FrisROEE MHBROHKAE mER BHREs L
Wide Cosmos International  Beneficial owner 181,843,836 - 181,843,836 24.72%
Holdings Co Ltd (note 1)
EnEAA
GERD
Sae-lao Rakchanok Beneficial owner 48,902,949 4,151,700 53,054,649 7.21%
S EnlAA
Chen Henglong Beneficial owner 52,200,000 6,584,000 58,784,000 7.99%
PRIEEE (note 2)
BEnEAA
GE)

Note 1: Wide Cosmos International Holdings Co Ltd is beneficially owned by
Mr. Han Qingyun, the chairman of the Company.

Note 2: Mr. Chen Henlong is the executive director of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2008, no person, other than

Mi3£1 : Wide Cosmos International Holdings Co

LA AR B EFEREEEE B R -

BifaE2

B EXFIREEIN

REELEEREARANTESE -

R-TENEAA=T

the directors of the Company whose interests are set out in the section
“Directors’ interests and short positions in shares, underlying shares
and debentures” above, had an interest or a short position in the shares
or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year and up to the date of this report, none of the directors
of the Company is interested in any business apart from the Group’s
business, which competes or is likely to compete, either directly of
indirectly, with the business of the Group.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the directors of the Company, as at the
date of this report, there is sufficient public float of not less than 25%
of the Company’s issued shares as required under the Listing Rules.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of its independent non-executive
director the annual confirmation of his/her independence pursuant to
rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company, based on such
confirmation, considers that the three independent non-executive
directors of the Company are independent as at the date of this annual
report.

AUDITORS

During the year, Messrs. Grant Thornton resigned as auditors of the
Group and NCN CPA Limited was appointed by the Directors to fill the
casual vacancy so arising.

A resolution for the reappointment of NCN CPA Limited as auditors of

the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Han Qingyun
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 October 2008
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Mr. Han Qingyun (8B E), aged 49, has been appointed as an
executive director of the Company with effect from 15 April 2008 and
re-designated from executive director to chairman of the Company on
28 April 2008. Mr. Han graduated from the Chinese Academy of Social
Sciences in 1998. Mr. Han Qingyun is a highly successful entrepreneur
in the PRC and has substantial experience in enterprise operations
and management. He currently also acts as the chairman of Guangdong
Bo Ao Hong Ji Investment Company Limited. Previous to this, he was
the chairman of his own founded Tai Gu Real Estate Development
Company Limited and responsible for the operation of that company
for years.

Dr. Han Xiaoyue (¥ 8), aged 46, is an executive director and joint
chairman of the Company. Dr. Han joined the Group in April 2007.
Dr. Han holds a Bachelor Degree of Computer Science from Tsinghua
University, Beijing and a PhD in Finance from the University of Texas,
the United States. He has over 18 years’ of experience in investment
banking and has worked for multi-national securities firms such as
Merrill Lynch and Societe Generale. He has involved actively in large-
scale investment projects in the PRC and has rich experience in
investment management. Dr. Han had been appointed as an executive
director and the chief executive officer of Sino Gas Group Limited, a
company listed on the Stock Exchange. He is well-versed with the
operation and management of the listed company.

Mr. Zhang He (&), aged 48, is an executive director of the
Company. Mr. Zhang joined the Group in May 2007. Mr. Zhang
graduated from Renmin University of China and obtained the Bachelor
Degree of Economics in 1982. After returning from Tokyo, where he
worked as an intern with Deloitte Tokyo for one year, he joined the
China Everbright Group. During the period of more than 13 years with
the China Everbright Group, he held the posts of finance manager,
financial controller, and deputy general manager in various group
companies in the China Everbright Group in Hong Kong and Mainland
China and gained extensive experience in large group enterprise
management. From 2002 to 2005, Mr. Zhang was an executive director
of Beijing Gaojin Investment Consultant Ltd. and led consulting
engagements in the area of assisting companies in the People’s
Republic of China getting listed overseas. All of these posts further
enhanced Mr. Zhang’s experience in finance, tax, accounting
management, company reorganization, and overseas capital operations
of foreign investment enterprises. Since April 2006, Mr. Zhang has
been an executive director of Hong Kong China National Resources
Development Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock
Exchange.

Vitop Bioenergy Holdings Limited
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Dr. Chen Henglong (FR1E®E), aged 43, is an executive director of
the Company and chief executive officer of the Group. Dr. Chen joined
the Group in May 2007. Dr. Chen graduated from the University of
Delaware in the United States in 1994 and obtained a PhD in
Biochemistry. Afterwards, Dr. Chen worked in Dupont and Imperial
Chemical Industries in the areas of bio-pharmaceutical research and
development. Dr. Chen had also founded and successfully operated
MNC Pharmaceutical Group for ten years and had accumulated profuse
experience in corporate governance, market strategy and sales and
research and development of new products. In 2006, Dr. Chen was
invited to join the Science Academy of China as visiting scientist
researcher and was mainly engaged in market strategy and sales in
relation to, among others, environmental protection and
biopharmaceutical projects.

Mr. Xu Nian Chun (&%), aged 63, has been appointed as an
executive director of the Company with effect from 15 April 2008. Mr.
Xu graduated from the Nanjing University of Chemical Technology and
is a senior engineer. He has engaged in the management of petroleum
and chemical systems for years and has substantial experience in
management. He acted as the general manager of Southern China
Supply Company of the Ministry of Chemical Industry and was awarded
for his substantial contributions by the State Council. He currently acts
as the deputy chairman of Shenzhen China Petroleum Tong Da
Company (& JI| R E AR A 7).

Ms. Guo Yan Ni (E8#&%E), aged 39, has been appointed as an
executive director of the Company with effect from 15 April 2008. Ms.
Guo graduated from the Zhanjiang Ocean University and majoring in
finance and accounting. Ms. Guo has years of experience in financial
and accounting and financial management. She acted as the treasurer
in the finance department of the Huazhou City Agricultural, Industrial
and Commercial Supply Company, and acted as the financial controller
of the finance department the Guangzhou Yayuan Real Estates
Company Limited for years.

Mr. Long Mingfei (RE B8 %), aged 36, has been appointed as an
executive director of the Company with effect from 28 April 2008. Mr.
Long graduated from Industrial and Civil Construction Department of
South China University of Technology in 1994 and is an intermediate
engineer. Mr. Long has years of experience in corporate management.
He has been the manager of cost management department in Guang
Dong Yitao Group Co., Ltd. and became the manager of investment
department in Guang Dong Yitao Group Co., Ltd. since 2008.
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Mr. Chan Yuk Tong (B & %), aged 46, has been re-designed as a
non-executive director of the Company since February 2008. Mr. Chan
joined the Group in September 2005 and was previously an executive
director of the Company until February 2008. He holds a Bachelor’s
degree in Commerce from the University of Newcastle in Australia and
a Master’s degree in Business Administration from the Chinese
University of Hong Kong. He has more than 20 years of experience in
auditing, accounting, management consultancy and financial advisory
services. Mr. Chan is a practising fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a member of CPA Australia.
He is an independent non-executive director of BYD Electronic
(International) Company Limited, Daisho Microline Holdings Limited,
Global Sweeteners Holdings Limited, Jia Sheng Holdings Limited
(previously “Carico Holdings Limited”), Kam Hing International Holdings
Limited and Sichuan Xinhua Winshare Chainstore Co., Ltd., the shares
of these companies are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Chan is an independent non-executive
director of Anhui Conch Cement Company Limited, the shares of which
are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange. He was also an
independent non-executive director of Luks Group (Vietnam Holdings)
Co. Limited (previously “Luks Industrial (Group) Limited”) and China
Pipe Group Limited (previously “World Trade Bun Kee Limited”), listed
companies in Hong Kong, during the period from 30 September 2004
to 1 December 2005 and from 1 January 2007 to 3 July 2007,
respectively.

Ms. Zhu Jing Hua (k& %), aged 66, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company with effect from
15 April 2008. Ms. Zhu graduated from the Dongbei University of
Finance and Economics and became a senior accountant in October
1992. She was approved as a chartered accountant by the Chinese
Institute of Certified Public Accountants in April 1994. She has worked
for the Ministry of Chemical Industry, holding positions of the deputy
director and the director of the production for outlet and supply and
marketing department of the Ministry of Chemical Industry, the deputy
chief of the Bureau of Economics of the Ministry of Chemical Industry,
the chief of the Bureau of Finance of the Ministry of Chemical Industry,
the deputy chief accountant of State Bureau of Petroleum and Chemical
Industries. She currently acts as the deputy president of China
Petroleum and Chemical Industry Association. From 2002 till now, she
has acted as an independent director of Guizhou Chitianhua Co., Ltd.

Vitop Bioenergy Holdings Limited
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Mr. Li Xinzhong (Z %7 9#), aged 50, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company with effect from
25 February 2008. After graduating from Nankai University in 1983
with a degree in Economics, Mr. Li spent seven years working in the
PRC as a lecturer, part-time lawyer and the deputy general manager
of a consulting firm in Tianjian before receiving his LL.M. degree at the
University of London in 1991. Mr. Li joined Miramar Group as an advisor
of China affairs in 1992 and then joined Peregrine Capital Limited in
1993 and became a director in 1996. He spent two years with Alta
Capital (H.K.) Limited as an executive director before joining BNP
Paribas Peregerine Capital Limited in 2000 as an executive director.
He joined Anglo Chinese Corporate Finance Limited in 2003 as a
director and then joined DBS Asia Capital Limited as China Team Head
of Mergers and Acquisitions in June 2004 responsible for origination
of China related corporate finance transactions. He is currently a
director and senior consultant of shenzhen Sino-Source Investment
Consulting Company. Mr. Li has over fifteen years’ experience in
corporate finance.

Mr. Zhang Wen (3R X), aged 40, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company with effect from
April 2008. Mr. Zhang graduated from the University of Hong Kong
with a master of business and administration and from the postgraduate
class of the postgraduate department of the Shenzhen University. From
2006 till now, he has been the deputy general manager of New Smart
Energy Group Limited. Previous to this, he was the deputy president
of China Natural Oil And Gas Co., Ltd. and the managing director of
Poliwell International Limited for years and accumulated substantial
experience in corporate management.

Dr. Lu Gen Xin (E# ), aged 55, joined the Group in July 2007 as
the chief operating officer of Vitop Group. He is responsible for strategic
development, market operation and innovative projects of the Group.
He graduated from Wuhan University and Fudan University and is a
senior visiting scholar in University of Maryland, US and an economics
professor with Doctorate of Law degree. He held senior positions and
worked as an executive chairman in large-scale state-owned
enterprises in the PRC and has extensive experience in strategic
planning, investment, mergers and acquisitions, operation and
marketing.
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Mr. Xing He Ping (FB#13%), aged 53, joined the group in April 2007 as
the general manager of Vitop Bioenergy (China) Ltd. He is responsible for
the strategic planning, business development and overall management
of the Company. He obtained a Bachelor of Arts degree and a Master’s
degree in Economics from Wuhan University and Huazhong Normal
University and is a senior economist, a law professor and an international
arbitrator. He has held senior management positions in well-known state-
owned enterprises, foreign-invested enterprises and large-scale private
pharmaceutical companies and has extensive experience in international
trading, strategic planning and management operations in pharmaceutical
market.

Mr. Liu Yi Song (2| —#2), aged 64, is the general manager of Hefei
Vitop Meiling Environmental Technologies Co., Ltd (& IE X F E 2 IR R
R AR & T A R (“Vitop Meiling”), a subsidiary of the Company, and is
a director of a subsidiary of the Group. Mr. Liu joined the Group in April
2004 and is responsible for the management of Vitop Meiling. He graduated
from the Department of Management Engineering of Hefei university of
Technology (& E T % KX £) in 1984. Prior to Joining the Group, he had
over 21 years of experience in business management.

Mr. Yeung Man Simon (##), aged 36, is the financial controller of
the Company. Mr. Yeung joined the Group in November 2004 and is
responsible for the financial and internal control of the Group. He
graduated from the University of Georgia, the United States of America
with a Bachelor degree in Accounting and a Bachelor degree in Finance
and Banking. Mr. Yeung is an associate member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a member of the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Prior to joining the Company,
he worked in an international accounting firm. He has over 11 years of
experience in auditing, finance and accounting.

Ms. He Rui Hong (A5 4L), aged 38, is the deputy general manager
of Vitop China. Ms. He joined the Group in July 1993 and is responsible
for the financial and management of the daily operation of the Group.
She graduated from the Department of Economics and Management
of Henan Polytechnic University (] B ¥ T X £%) major in accounting
and auditing, with a Bachelor degree in Engineering in 1992 and
completed a postgraduate course in accounting in the School of
Management of Sun Yat-Sen University in 2003. She has over 15 years
of experience in financial management.

Mr. Xiao Cheng Zhi (E &), aged 37, joined the group in August
2005 as a deputy general manager of Vitop Bioenergy (China) Ltd. He
is responsible for overall marketing and coordination of the Company.
He graduated from Hubei University in 1992 and is an intermediate
economist. Before joining our Company in 2002, he has over 11 years
of experience in marketing and management.

Vitop Bioenergy Holdings Limited
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEERRE
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES TEERER

The Company is committed to establishing and maintaining high RAAT—EBNBYREFSKEHLEE
standards of corporate governance. The directors of the Company  J& > AR FIZEZHRERREMAENCESAE
believe that sound and reasonable corporate governance practices REANEBERARREMBARREZERE
are essential for the growth of the Group and for safeguarding and WE o

maximizing shareholders’ interests.

During the year, the Company has applied the principles and complied FR - ARBIEEAEMARESE U EE
with the code provisions set out in the Code on Corporate Governance JAERSFRI(TSPRL) S R A - W2 B SF<F
Practices (the “Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules, BIA B <F RIS - HEIRBE T P itt & R f) <F
except for the deviations from code provisions A.1.1, A.4.1 and E.1.2 BMESCEAAA ~ A4 AREA2MKBIBR I o

as stated and explained below.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS EENTERS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions A BB RN _ETAR BIR 8% - FrEk A _E A R
by Directors of Listed Issuers at set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing EZETEFRHEETR(EEFRD A
Rules (the “Model Code”) as its own code for securities transactions EEHHTESFRINTH] o EARQFMELE
by Directors. All members of the Boards have confirmed, following RlERE  2RESENECERESNEN
specific enquiry by the Company, that they have complied with the BB TIRESTRIFTH MR TIZAE o

required standard as set out in the Model Code during the year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS EES

The Board comprises eleven directors, of which seven are executive ~ BEEH T+ —ZESHEK - EF LR ANTE
directors; one is non-executive director and three are independent non- . —ERIFPITES  —BRBEIIFRTE
executive directors. The members of the Board as at the date of this FoRNAFHREAH  EEFXKEWNT ¢
annual report are as follows:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS HITES

Mr. Han Qinyun (Chairman) BEZELE (FE)

Mr. Han Xiaoyue (Joint Chairman) BB L (HEEE)
Mr. Chen Henglong PRIEEE ST A&

Mr. Zhang He oo e A

Mr. Xu Xian Chun BRRBEE

Ms. Guo Yan Ni e+

Mr. Long Minfei BERAR A

REEYERERAR — == \555 25
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Mr. Chan Yuk Tong
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Zhu Jing Hua
Mr. Zhang Wen
Mr. Li Xinzhong

The Board assumes responsibility for leadership and control of the
Company and shall be collectively responsible for promoting the
success of the Company by directing and supervising the Company’s
affairs. The Board formulates overall strategies and policies of the Group
and monitors the performance and activities of the management. With
delegating authorities from the Board, the management of the Company
is responsible for the day-to-day operations of the Group under the
leadership of the Joint Chairman.

To the best knowledge of the Company, there is no financial, business,
family or other material/relevant relationships among members of the
Board and in particular, between the Chairman and the Joint Chairman.

Under code provision A.1.1 of the Code, at least four regular board
meetings should be held a year at approximately quarterly intervals
with active participation of a majority of directors of the Company,
either in person or through other electronic means of communication.
As the Company did not announce its quarterly results, two regular
board meetings were held during the year for reviewing and approving
the interim and annual financial performance of the Group. Board
meetings will be held on other occasions when board decisions are
required.
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During the year, 10 full board meetings (including two regular board
meetings) were held and the individual attendance of each director at

the board meetings was as follows:
Directors

Executive directors
Mr. Han Qingyun (Chairman)
(appointed as executive director
on 15 April 2008 and re-designated
from executive director to
chairman on 28 April 2008)
Mr. Han Xiaoyue (Joint Chairman)
Mr. Chen Henglong
Mr. Zhang He
Mr. Xu Nian Chun
(appointed on 15 April 2008)
Ms. Guo Yan Ni
(appointed on 15 April 2008)
Mr. Long Minfei
(appointed on 28 April 2008)
Mr. Hung Kai So
(resigned on 25 February 2008)
Mr. Tse Kam Fai
(appointed on 25 February 2008
and resigned on
15 April 2008)
Mr. Liu Jun
(resigned on 28 April 2008)

Non-executive director

Mr. Chan Yuk Tong
(re-designated from executive director
to non-executive director
on 25 February 2008)

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Li Xinzhong
(appointed on 25 February 2008)
Mr. Zhang Wen
(appointed on 15 April 2008)
Ms. Zhu Jing Hua
(appointed on 15 April 2008)
Mr. Yuan Tsu |
(resigned on 28 February 2008)
Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex
(resigned on 28 February 2008)
Professor Li Li Te
(resigned on 15 April 2008)
Mr. Zhang Fan
(appointed on 25 February 2008
and resigned on
15 April 2008)

Attendance

2/2

10/10
10/10
10/10
2/2
2/2
3/10
2/2

6/6

9/9

8/10

8/8

2/2

2/2

5/5

3/3

8/8

2/2

T
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PRIEEE ST A& 10/10
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For a regular board meeting, notice of at least fourteen days is given
to all directors of the Company, who are given an opportunity to include
matters in the agenda for discussion, and an agenda and
accompanying board papers are sent to all directors of the Company
at least three days before the intended date of a regular board meeting.

Minutes of board meetings and meetings of board committees are
kept by the secretary of the Company and are open for inspection at
any reasonable time on reasonable notice by any director of the
Company. Draft and final versions of minutes of board meetings are
sent to all directors of the Company for their comment and records
respectively, in both cases within a reasonable time after the board
meeting is held.

Appropriate insurance cover has been arranged in respect of legal
action against the directors and officers of the Group.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Under code provision A.4.1 of the Code, non-executive directors should
be appointed for a specific term and be subject to re-election.

The three independent non-executive directors of the Company were
not appointed for a specific term, but are subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election at the annual general meetings of the Company
in accordance with the articles of association of the Company.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS

The remuneration committee comprises three independent non-
executive directors of the Company, namely Ms. Zhu Jing Hua (the
chairman of the committee), Mr. Zhang Wen and Mr. Li Xinzhong.

The role and function of the remuneration committee primarily include
reviewing, considering and approving proposals as well as making
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure
relating to the remuneration of directors and senior management.
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During the year, there was one meeting held by the remuneration
committee. The following was the attendance record of the
remuneration committee meeting held during the year:

Ms. Zhu Jing Hua 0/0
(appointed on 15 April 2008)

Mr. Zhang Wen 0/0
(appointed on 15 April 2008)

Mr. Li Xinzhong 0/0
(appointed on 25 February 2008)

Mr. Yuan Tsu | 11
(resigned on 28 February 2008)

Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex 1/1
(resigned on 28 February 2008)

Professor Li Li Te 11
(resigned on 15 April 2008)

Mr. Zhang Fan 0/0

(appointed on 25 February 2008
and resigned on
5 April 2008)

NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Board is empowered under the articles of association of the
Company to appoint any person as a director of the Company either
to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the existing Board. No
nomination committee was established by the Company in view of the
small size of the Board. The Board as a whole is responsible for
considering the suitability of an individual to act as a director of the
Company, and approving and terminating the appointment of a director
of the Company.

The executive directors of the Company are responsible for selecting
and recommending suitable candidates for members of the Board
based on their characters, qualifications, experience and background,
when there is a vacancy or an additional director is considered
necessary. The recommendations of the executive directors are then
put forward for consideration by the Board.

During the year, the executive directors recommended nine candidates
for the appointments to the Board.
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During the year, four meetings were held by the Board to consider and
approve the appointments and resignations of directors of the
Company. The attendances of the meetings comprised a majority of
the executive directors and independent non-executive directors, with
no director being involved in fixing his/her own terms of appointment
and no independent non-executive director being involved in assessing
his/her own independence. All such appointments and resignations
are unanimously resolved by the members of the Board attending at
the meetings.

The individual attendance of each director at the board meetings was
as follows:

Directors Attendance

Mr. Han Qingyun (chairman) 11
(appointed as executive director
on 15 April 2008 and re-designated
from executive director to
chairman on 28 April 2008)

Mr. Han Xiaoyue (Join Chairman) 4/4

Mr. Chen Henglong 4/4

Mr. Zhang He 4/4

Mr. Xu Nian Chun 1/1
(appointed on 15 April 2008)

Ms. Guo Yan Ni 11
(appointed on 15 April 2008)

Mr. Long Minfei 1/1
(appointed on 28 April 2008)

Mr. Tse Kam Fai 11
(appointed on 25 February 2008
and resigned on
15 April 2008)

Mr. Hung Kai So 1/1
(resigned on 25 February 2008)

Mr. Liu Jun 3/3
(resigned on 28 April 2008)

Mr. Chan Yuk Tong 3/3
(re-designated from executive director
to non-executive director on 25 February 2008)

Ms. Zhu Jing Hua 11
(appointed on 15 April 2008)

Mr. Zhang Wen 11
(appointed on 15 April 2008)

Mr. Li Xinzhong 3/3
(appointed on 25 February 2008)

Mr. Yuan Tsu | 1/1
(resigned on 28 February 2008)

Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex 11
(resigned on 28 February 2008)

Professor Li Li Te 2/2
(resigned on 15 April 2008)

Mr. Zhang Fan 11

(appointed on 25 February 2008
and resigned on
15 April 2008)
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

An amount of approximately HK$0.47 million was charged to the
Group’s consolidated income statement for the year ended 30 June
2008 for audit services provided by Messrs. NCN CPA Limited . There
were no significant non-audit services provided by Messrs. NCN CPA
Limited during the year.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company was established on 18 January
2002 with written terms of reference which were revised on 21 March
2005 in compliance with the code provision C.3.3 of the Code. The
audit committee comprises three independent non-executive directors
of the Company, namely Ms. Zhu Jing Hua (chairman of the committee),
Mr. Li Xinzhong and Mr. Zhang Wen. Ms. Zhu Jing Hua possesses
appropriate professional accounting qualifications and related financial
management expertise as required under rule 3.10(2) of the Listing
Rules.

The primary duties of the audit committee include the review and
supervision of the financial reporting process and internal control
system, and the review of the interim and annual reports of the Group.

During the year, two meetings were held by the audit committee to
review the annual report of the Group for the year ended 30 June
2008 and the interim report of the Group for the six months ended
31 December 2007 before submission to the Board for approval, and
to provide advice and comments thereon to the Board. The individual
attendance of each member at the audit committee meetings was as
follows:

Members Attendance

Mr. Li Xinzhong 2/2
(appointed on 25 February 2008)

Ms. Zhu Jing Hua 1/1
(appointed on 15 April 2008 and
acted as Chairman of the committee)

Mr. Zhang Wen 11
(appointed on 15 April 2008)

Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex 1/1
(resigned and ceased as chairman
of the committee on 28 February 2008)

Mr. Yuan Tsu | 1/1
(resigned on 28 February 2008)

Professor Li Li Te 11
(resigned on 15 April 2008)

Mr. Zhang Fan 1/1

(appointed on 25 February 2008
and resigned on
15 April 2008)
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
\l'_q\Aiﬁi

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’
RESPONSIBILITIES ON THE ACCOUNTS

The directors of the Company acknowledge their responsibility for
preparing the accounts of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2008.

The statement by Messrs. NCN CPA Limited, the existing external
auditors of the Company, about their reporting responsibilities on the
accounts of the Group is set out in the Report of the Auditors on pages
33 and 34.

As at 30 June 2008, the directors of the Company confirm that, to the
best of their knowledge, information and belief, having made all
reasonable enquiries, they are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Accordingly, the
directors of the Company have prepared the accounts of the Group on
a going concern basis.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has the responsibility to ensure that the Company maintains
sound and effective internal controls to safeguard the shareholders’
investments and the Company’s assets. The internal control system is
designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against
material misstatement or loss and the management rather than
elimination of risks associated with the business activities of the Group.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
shareholders and in particular, use annual general meetings or other
general meetings to communicate with shareholders and encourage
their participation.

The directors of the Company host the annual general meeting each
year to meet the shareholders and answer their enquiries.

Under code provision E.1.2 of the Code, the Chairman of the Board
should attend, and the chairmen of the audit and remuneration
committees should be available to answer questions at, the annual
general meeting of the Company.

The Chairman of the Board and the chairmen of the audit committee
and remuneration committee were unable to attend the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 10 December 2007 in person, but
the Chairman of the Board has already delegated to one of the joint
chairman of the Company to chair the meeting on his behalf and has
also arranged for two executive directors of the Company to be
available to answer questions at the annual general meeting on behalf
of the chairman of the audit committee and the remuneration
committee.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
BYREMBKRES

To the shareholders of Vitop Bioenergy Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Vitop
Bioenergy Holdings Limited (the “Company”) set out on pages 35 to
115, which comprise the consolidated and company balance sheets
as at 30 June 2008 and the consolidated income statement, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash
flow statement for the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and
the true and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. This
responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining internal
control relevant to the preparation and the true and fair presentation
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are
reasonable in the circumstances.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audit and to report our opinion solely to you, as a body,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance as to whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
BYREMHRES

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the
entity’s preparation and true and fair presentation of the financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at
30 June 2008 and of the Group’s loss and cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
and have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

NCN CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants
20/F., Hong Kong Trade Centre,
161-167 Des Voeux Road,
Central, Hong Kong,

Hong Kong S.A.R., China

Hong Kong, 29 October 2008

Choi Man Chau, Michael
Practising Certificate Number PO1188
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

2 A 2
mellaEk
For the year ended 30 June 2008
HE_ZZTN\FRA=+THLEFE

T

2008 2007
—EENF —ETEF
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
B 5 FHBT T
Revenue Uy &5 6 111,137 104,247
Cost of sales BHE AR (61,962) (60,826)
Gross profit E R 49,175 43,421
Other income HAm g A 7 3,379 4,922
Selling and distribution costs SHE Mo S AR (22,125) (28,234)
Administrative expenses THEREER (36,335) (27,201)
Other operating expenses Hibig & & A (2,963) (6,525)
Loss from operating activities KEEE 8 (8,869) (13,617)
Finance costs B 9 (159) (273)
(Loss)/gain on disposal &S KT E R A
of subsidiary (B8 M= (328) 682
Gain on disposal of a & KA
jointly-controlled entity EHIE S - 1,161
Loss before income tax expense FRFT5%i B X A58 (9,356) (12,047)
Income tax expense Fris®if X 10 (679) (174)
Loss for the year KFERE (10,035) (12,221)
Attributable to: TH AL :
Equity holders of the Company RAGERFAA 11 (10,225) (12,681)
Minority interests LEIR RS 190 460
Loss for the year EEER (10,035) (12,221)
Dividends iz B 12 — -
Loss per share attributable to FRAERRQFE
equity holders of the Company  ##&H AE{L
during the year BREEB 13
Basic HAK HK(1.40) cents #&1ll  HK(1.82) cents /&l
Diluted e N/A T 3E H N/A 8 A
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

SEEERER

As at 30 June 2008
RZZEZNFEAA=1H

T

2008 2007
—EEN\E —ETLF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FHBT T
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEEREE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y -~ BN E 15 6,568 8,902
Intangible assets mEE 16 2,397 3,626
Available-for-sale investments A ERE 19 21,700 —
Financial assets designated BEREAFEN
at fair value through 5= sk BB P AR
profit or loss ZHBEE 18 2,162 2,356
Pledged bank deposit EEBIRITER 22 20 20
32,847 14,904
Current assets REEE
Inventories rE 20 16,398 12,760
Trade receivables B 5 R 21 4,342 2,226
Deposits, prepayments and other A& BARIER
receivables H b Uk BR X 20,319 14,904
Cash and bank balances B MRTTER 22 10,196 30,563
51,255 60,453
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade payables Z SRR 23 5,550 6,417
Accrued liabilities and other payables FERT B B R H b FET BRK 8,436 13,691
Deposits received Bl e 8,975 8,656
Interest-bearing bank loans STERITER 24 3,265 1,842
Provision for income tax FriS i 15 66 37
26,292 30,643
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

SEEERER

As at 30 June 2008
RZZEZNFEAA=1H

T

2008 2007
—EEN\E —EE+F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
=S FET FET
Net current assets RBEEFE 24,963 29,810
Total assets less current liabilities ZBEZERRBEE 57,810 44,714
Non-current liabilities ERBERE
Interest-bearing bank loans FTERITER 24 - 770
Net assets EERE 57,810 43,944
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to equity holders A QX TEHFEF A
of the Company B
Share capital f& 7 25 18,392 17,464
Reserves A 27 37,319 24,571
55,711 42,035
Minority interests DEBRRER 2,099 1,909
Total equity HRER 57,810 43,944
Han Xiaoyue Zhang He
Director Director
BER R
EE E
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T

BALANCE SHEET
EERER

As at 30 June 2008
RZZEZENFRA=1+H

2008 2007
—EEN\E —EE+F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
=S FET FET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Non-current assets IRBEE
Interests in subsidiaries RITB AR 2R 17 29,691 29,691
Available-for-sale investments AHHERE 19 21,700 —
51,391 29,691
Current assets RBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries NG B 17 7,928 18,902
Deposits, prepayments and other e ENREK
receivables H b pE Uk BR 3R 319 4,038
Cash and bank balances Re RIR{TTET 22 26 20
8,273 22,960
Current liabilities RBEE
Amounts due to subsidiaries SR ENGIE S| 17 7,999 7,619
Accrued liabilities and other payables ERtBEREMEMNERER 2,180 1,083
10,179 8,702
Net current (liabilites)/assets e (BB BEERE (1,906) 14,258
Net assets EEFE 49,485 43,949
EQUITY R
Share capital B 25 18,392 17,464
Reserves fHE 27 31,093 26,485
Total equity HER 49,485 43,949
Han Xiaoyue Zhang He
Director Director
BER R
EE E
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

AN o~ —1

mEBHERER
For the year ended 30 June 2008
HEZTTZ )/ \FAA=THLFE

T

2008 2007
—EENF —TTLF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt 5E FTExT FHET
Cash flows from operating activities EEEBcHEFRE
Loss before income tax bR TS B AT ES 1B (9,356) (12,047)
Adjustments for: EEE TFIFEE
Interest income B A (1,348) (864)
Depreciation e 3,834 5,044
Amortisation N 1,514 2,000
Loss on disposal of property, plant LEME - BER
and equipment R BB 407 104
Loss/(Gain) on disposal of subsidiaries  H &M B A & &8, (I 25) 328 (682)
Gain on disposal of a jointly-controlled £ Ht[F] #2 | & 52
entity Wz - (1,161)
Impairment loss H 5 MR
on trade receivables 2 REEE 567 1,766
Provision for obsolete and slow RE LM EE
moving inventories BiE 311 1,919
Fair value loss on share option granted B R L ERE 2 A FEEE 8,619 -
Finance costs B % 2 159 273
Operating profit/(loss) before working RitEBESEH 2
capital changes wEREF S (E8) 5,035 (3,648)
(Increase)/Decrease in inventories FEOEMm SR (3,949) 4,877
(Increase)/Decrease Z 5 R
in trade receivables (g E L (2,683) 1,321
Increase in deposits, prepayments l® ~ TENEIE R E 4 E
and other receivables AR FRIE 00 (5,415) (8,434)
Decrease in financial assets B AR AFEN ST EE
designated at fair value R 2 TS EE
through profit or loss Ve 194 124
Decrease in trade payables 2 5 RN RFOR A (867) (2,531)
(Decrease)/Increase in accrued ERFAERH A ER
liabilities and other payables BRI CRLA) /180 (5,255) 2,715
Increase in deposits received EUET &30 319 89
Cash used in operations KEEHACRS (12,621) (5,487)
PRC corporate income taxes paid ENPESEMEN (679) (194)
Interest paid B FLE (159) (273)
Net cash used in operating KEXBEHAZ
activities IReF8 (13,459) (5,954)
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For the year ended 30 June 2008
BE-TT/\FAAZTHLFE

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and
equipment
Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Purchase of intangible assets
Decrease in time deposits
with original maturity of more than
three months when acquired
Invest in available-for-sale
investment
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries
Proceeds from disposal of
a jointly-controlled entity
Interest received

Net cash (used in)/generated from
investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
New bank loans
Repayment of bank loans
Dividend paid to minority shareholder
of a subsidiary
Net proceed from issued of
ordinary shares

Net cash generated from/(used in)
financing activities

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and
cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents
at beginning of the year

Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes

Cash and cash equivalents
at end of the year

Analysis of balances of cash and
cash equivalents

Cash and bank balances

Time deposits with original maturity of

more than three months when acquired

Cash and cash equivalents
at 30 June

Vitop Bioenergy Holdings Limited
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BEWE BELAR
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Notes

B E

2008
—zNE
HK$’000
FHT

(1,247)

8,034

(21,700)

1,348
(13,565)

2,500
(1,847)

13,000
13,653

(13,371)
22,529

1,038

10,196

10,196

10,196

2007
2T
HK$’'000
T T

(729)
238

(3,708)
2,585
7,725
1,161
864
8,136

(1 ,27;)

(341)

(1,618)

564
20,663

1,302

22,529

30,563

(8,034)

22,529



T

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEERBER

For the year ended 30 June 2008

HEZTT N \FRNA=+HLEFE

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company

FRRAREREARLRR
Capital Share
Share Share Statutory  redemption Capital  Translation option Minority Total
capital  premium * reserve * reserve * reserve * reserve * reserve *  Accumulated Total interests equity
X BhRE losses * b8
k& ROEE  EERE  BEER  ERER EXRE BE ZEEE a8 RRER s

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR Tix TR TR TR TiEx TR TR

Atand 1 July 2006 RZZERELA-R 17,464 33,131 8,789 29 28,764 1,478 - (38,406) 51,249 1,790 53,039

Translation adjustment ~ ER % - - - - - 3,467 - - 3,467 - 3,467

Netincome/(expenses) ~ ERRNEZTEAL

recognised directly WA/ (%)

in equity B - - - - - 3,467 - - 3,467 - 3,467
Loss for the year TEERE - - - - - - - (12,681) (12,681) 460 (12,221)

Total recognised income ~ £REEDZKAR
and expense for the year X A% - - - - - 3,467 - (12,681) (9214) 460 (8,754)

Dividend paid to minority ~ XRTOEREZBRE

shareholders - - - - - - - - - (341) (341)
At 30 June 2007 RZFEtFAAZTA

and 1 July 2007 R=E5tEtA-A 17,464 33,131 8,789 29 28,764 4945 - (51,087 42,035 1,909 43,944
Translation adjustment ~ ER % - - - - - 2,082 - - 2,282 - 2,282

Netincome/(expenses) ~ ERRNEETEAL
recognised directly WA/ (&)

in equity 38 - - 2,082 - - 2,082 - 2,282
Issued of share capital  E{TRA 928 12,072 - - - - - - 13,000 - 13,000
Equity-settled share HREZ A

option arrangement BRERH - - - - - - 8,619 - 8,619 - 8,619
Loss for the year FEEEE - - - - - - - (10,225) (10,225) 190 (10,035)
Total recognised income ~ EREEZZ AR

and expense for the year 4% 928 12,072 - - - 2,282 8,619 (10,225) 13,676 190 13,866
At 30 June 2008 RZZENE

B 18,392 45,203 8,789 29 28,764 1,221 8,619 (61,312) 55,711 2,099 57,810

*

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of U EHREREFREERRGAEERERT
HK$37,319,000 (2007: HK$24,571,000) in the consolidated balance sheet. 37,319,000 T2 iR FH (ZEZTLF ¢
24,571,000/ 7T) °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 5 R AR MY

For the year ended 30 June 2008
HE_ZZTN\FRA=+THLEFE

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 15
February 2001 as an exempted company with limited liability
under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The Company
withdrew the listing of its shares on The Growth Enterprise
Market (the “GEM”) of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 10 February 2003, and on
the same date, by way of introduction, listed its entire issued
share capital on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

The Company’s registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-111, Cayman
Islands. The Company’s principal place of business has been
changed from Suites 918-920, 9/F Sun Hung Kai Centre, 30
Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong to Suites 913-917, 9/F
Sun Hung Kai Centre, 30 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
during the year.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The principal activities of its subsidiaries are manufacturing and
trading of BIOenergy® products, healthcare food products,
multi-functional water generators and other healthcare products
in the People’s Republic of China, excluding Hong Kong and
Macau (the “PRC”).

The financial statements on pages 35 to 115 have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) which collective term includes all
applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The
financial statements also include the applicable disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(“Listing Rules”).

The financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2008 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on
29 October 2008.
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T

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 3% S AR M B

For the year ended 30 June 2008
HEZTT N \FRNA=+HLEFE

2. IMPACT OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 2. HEIREETEBUE
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING BEEANTE
STANDARDS

AEBEERAAFE R IERRRA T
Al MGERT BB MEER] - BRE
THERTNBELBRIMEEIN - KAZE
Fa] RAERT R R B S B 5 4

The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs
for the first time for the current year’s financial statements.
Except for in certain cases, giving rise to additional disclosures,
the adoption of these new and revised standards and

interpretations has had no material effect on these financial RIEKERTE -
statements.
HKAS 1 (Amendment) Presentation of Financial BEGTER B 275
Statements — Capital F158 (IBE]) —BARH R
Disclosures
HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures BEVBMELER SBIE:HFE
ETH
HK(FRIC) - Int 10 Interim Financial Reporting and BH BBV BRE TEHUBERER
Impairment ZERZES) VEREN
—REE105%
HK(IFRIC) - Int 11 HKFRS 2: Group and Treasury B (BB BERE BENBmE
Share Transactions ZEBZES) AEBI 255
—REE115 EEKRER
RH 325

The principal effects of adopting these new and revised HKFRSs RNZEH A REERT BBV IS mE %

are as follows: BMEEFENT

(A) AMENDMENT TO HKAS 1 (A) EBEESTERE1E
PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL (B 7)) A1 7 4 7 49 =
STATEMENTS - CAPITAL DISCLOSURES I — EFXHE

This amendment requires the Group to make disclosures ZEFTHEREBELHE - A
that enable users of the financial statements to evaluate A e R R RN
the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for EEEEANEE  BEKE

managing capital. Fp o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 3% S AR M B

For the year ended 30 June 2008
HEZTTZ )/ \FAA=THLFE

2. IMPACT OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 2. HEIREETEBUZ
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING HBEEANEE =

STANDARDS (continued)

(B) HKFRS 7 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS: (B) BEEMBHREEAE7
DISCLOSURES hEMT A - #KE
This standard requires disclosures that enable users of ZERREELHEE - METH
the financial statements to evaluate the significance of WEREAEEATIHTIEES M
the Group’s financial instruments and the nature and TAMNBEZEULZERRIITAM
extent of risks arising from those financial instruments. EERRANUEEREE - AEEH
While there has been no effect on the financial position KBTS A B B R U
or results of operations of the Group, comparative FE  MHEBRERBBEHEA K
information has been included/revised where 1B85] (EA) -
appropriate.

(C) HK(IFRIC) - INT 10 INTERIM FINANCIAL (€ &E EBFUHBHEER
REPORTING AND IMPAIRMENT BZE8) —28%10

IR PRI R R AE

The Group has adopted this interpretation as of 1 July REEER_EZLFLHA—H
2007, which requires that an impairment loss recognised RNzt - ZREHATE  RE
in a previous interim period in respect of goodwill or an — & B s B SR EE R
investment in either an equity instrument classified as AL S Ak T B IR pk AT BR
available-for-sale or a financial asset carried at cost is BB 758 E IR A T R AR (E
not subsequently reversed. As the Group had no B8 - HETSER - R4S
impairment losses previously reversed in respect of such B SR ERC A B ERNRE
assets, the interpretation has had no impact on the E518 - ML B A EE NI
financial position or results of operations of the Group. MR EEEWETE -

(D) HK(IFRIC) - INT 11 GROUP AND (D) &8 BRI BHEER

TREASURY SHARE TRANSACTIONS

This interpretation requires arrangements whereby an
employee is granted rights to the Group’s equity
instruments, to be accounted for as an equity-settled
scheme, even if the Group acquires the instruments from
another party, or the shareholders provide the equity
instruments needed. HK(IFRIC)-Int 11 also addresses
the accounting for share-based payment transactions
involving two or more entities within the Group. As the
Group currently has no such transactions, the
interpretation is unlikely to have any financial impact on
the Group.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 755 kB

For the year ended 30 June 2008
HE_ZZTN\FRA=+THLEFE

2. IMPACT OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 2. HEIREETEBUE
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING HBEEANEE @

STANDARDS (continued)

The Group has not applied the following new and revised NS B30 4% E AR T 1 2 AR 1B 18 SR AR AR

standards or interpretations that have been issued but are not

yet effective.

FIFTR] M ARIERT RSk R FE o

HKAS 1 (Revised) Presentation of Financial Statements' B AL BT & Y
E15% (B5]) 23
HKAS 23 (Revised) Borrowing Costs' BEGF LR ERER
2355 (1£3])
HKAS 27 (Revised) Consolidated and Separate Financial el e kB
Statements? E275% (1B3) B R
HKAS 32 and HKAS 1 Amendments to HKAS 32 Financial N e BRG]
(Amendment) Instruments: Presentation and HKAS 1 FRFERBBGH E32% [ & R
Presentation of Financial Statements — B 15 (B:]) TERE: 2R
Puttable Financial Instruments and BAEGEL
Obligations Arising on Liquidation’ ERLALE

EERETIIE
BT -k

ERTAR
BREER
Bt
HKFRS 2 (Amendment)  Share-based Payment - Vesting BEMBRELEL R — 58
Conditions and Cancellations' £25% (155T) FE ERik
HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combinations? BAMBREER EBa
35 (1B3])
HKFRS 8 Operating Segments'’ BRI B WS ER mg
£85%
HK(FRIC) - Int 12 Service Concession Arrangements? a5 (BRI BHRE RBLERELYS
RBRZEY) 2B
F12%
HK(FRIC) - Int 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes* B (ERIBRE EPREREN
2BZEY) 2B
F135%
HK(FRIC) - Int 14 HKAS 19 - The Limit on a Defined B (BRI HERE BB EL
Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding REZE®) F19R-RE
Requirements and their Interaction? —BRBE14R FlmEER
RE - REES
1RE MAEE R
AR
HK(FRIC) - Int 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real BB (EREBRE BHEEEHA
Estate’ REZEY)
—RBFE155%
HK(FRIC) - Int 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foregin BABRMBRS  HHEINER
Operation® REZEY) FIRAES
—RREE16%

REEYERERAT —22 )\ 5% 45
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 755 kB

For the year ended 30 June 2008
HE_ZZTN\FRA=+THLEFE

2. IMPACT OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

' Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2009
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2008
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2008

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 October
2008

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of
these standards or interpretations will have no material impact
on the results and financial position of the Group.

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

The significant accounting policies that have been used
in the preparation of these financial statements are
summarised below. These policies have been
consistently applied to all the years presented unless
otherwise stated.

The financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for the revaluation of certain
assets and liabilities. The measurement bases are fully
described in the accounting policies below.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and
assumptions are used in preparation of financial
statements. Although these estimates are based on
management’s best knowledge and judgement of current
events and actions, actual results may ultimately differ
from those estimates. The areas involving higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the financial statements,
are disclosed in note 4.

3.2 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
made up to 30 June each year.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 755 kB

For the year ended 30 June 2008
HE_ZZTN\FRA=+THLEFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 3. TESTBREME @
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.3 SUBSIDIARIES 3.3 (B2 E]

Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has the MBARITIFA NS B E %
power to control the financial and operating policies so RIS - AEEE
as to obtain benefits from their activities. The existence BFEUSHRAEES - 2 HE RS
and effect of potential voting rights that are currently BEEREHs B8k HeE
exercisable are considered when assessing whether the BIREAITERNEERAELSS
Group controls another entity. Subsidiaries are fully GHEREZE -WBARIBE
consolidated from the date on which control is HIEEETAREE AREELR
transferred to the Group. They are excluded from AFTE WEEHERIEERE
consolidation from the date that control ceases. THiREETE -

Business combinations are accounted for by applying A HAMEEESR - HPp
the purchase method. This involves the revaluation at Rz N EEGH AU B BB FT
fair value of all identifiable assets and liabilities, including BRHEREERERE  BIEZW
contingent liabilities of the subsidiary, at the acquisition BARINSAEE  MAmZE
date, regardless of whether or not they were recorded BENBEREEBI G &N
in the financial statements of the subsidiary prior to ZH B R BN IEEREKFR o AT
acquisition. On initial recognition, the assets and liabilities FHERR - ZMBATNEER
of the subsidiary are included in the consolidated balance AEERATEFALRGEESR
sheet at their fair values, which are also used as the f&& - TMEREBEREENGEIK
bases for subsequent measurement in accordance with KRAEEBTEMEE -

the Group’s accounting policies.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains REURE B mEE - SEAK
on transactions between group companies are RS EHLEERRBRSH
eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial REBUERT T A - BRIER
statements. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless SIREEBRBEREREELR
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of BE - BRAITSHERERE
the asset transferred. B o

In the Company’s balance sheet, subsidiaries are carried BRIEMIB AT Al HIEERI A
at cost less impairment loss unless the subsidiary is held HEMEE  FRIRARAIMNE
for sale or included in a disposal group. The results of EAERY - MEBARTHRAA
the subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on WA RDREEIESE - B
the basis of dividends received and receivable at the AIMEERANAIRBREER
balance sheet date. BB U N U IR B E AR o
Minority interest represents the portion of the profit or DY RSB B A AR R T
loss and net assets of a subsidiary attributable to equity SEEREEFET  WIEAR
interest that are not owned by the Group and are not SEHBHMREREWN - BIIE
the Group’s financial liabilities. AEEPKEENI G, -

KREEDBRERRE —== )\ F55 47
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.

FTE

EBEBRE®

3.3 SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 33 MEAE @
Minority interests are presented in the consolidated LER R TG aEEAR
balance sheet within equity, separately from the equity KEERIEE S - EARQE S
attributable to the equity holders of the Company. Profit BEANEBERRDFZES -
or loss attributable to the minority interests are presented A% B o B Yt T S ES B TR 4R
separately in the consolidated income statement as an BWRTOHAZINAAEEEER
allocation of the Group’s results. Where losses applicable DR o DERREE(E R EIEERA
to the minority exceed the minority interests in the B BB N Rl HE 2 R 9 D AR R
subsidiary’s equity, the excess and further losses & LPEREE BN
applicable to the minority are allocated against the HNETETI A D BUIR R i s R IR
minority interests to the extent that the minority has a HiH - WA ERRER B ALR
binding obligation and is able to make an additional TR E T K Be B IME L IR E LA
investment to cover the losses. Otherwise, the losses ERHEBEBRIRI - TR - ZEE
are charged against the Group’s interests. If the BN AEEER PR © 1
subsidiary subsequently reports profits, such profits are MEBARERESEN 255
allocated to the minority interests only after the minority’s FREBERAEEFRERND
share of losses previously absorbed by the Group has R BBRWNEES SRR
been recovered. DR RS -

3.4 PROPERTY,PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 34 Y% BERRE

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction
in progress, are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses. The cost of an asset
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable
costs of bringing the asset to the working condition and
location for its intended use. Subsequent costs are
included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised
as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item
can be measured reliably. All other costs, such as repairs
and maintenance are charged to the income statement
during the financial period in which they are incurred.
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For the year ended 30 June 2008
HE_ZZTN\FRA=+THLEFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 3. TESTBREME @

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.4 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 3.4 Y% BMERRE @
(continued)
Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to WE TR T REET A {E A FHR
write off the cost of property, plant and equipment, less NEEMIEYZE - BB KR
any estimated residual values, over the following IR B AR R R (B
estimated useful lives: BEHE :
Leasehold improvements 5 years or over HEMERE RFHIE
the lease terms, GIROES:
whichever is shorter (ABEE BE)
Machinery and equipment 8 to 12 years HEE R NE+ZF
Furniture and office equipment 3 to 8 years FARRANERE “ENF
Motor vehicles 8 years Pk NE
The gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of an Rz R AERE L S RED
item of property, plant and equipment recognised in the ¥ WEREENIREEEENK
income statement is the difference between the net sales =B HEBEEEMSTF
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset. EREmMEMNER -
The asset’s residual values and useful lives are reviewed, BEMFSEALRTEATHE
and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date. REEEERETRN LAE
(miEm) -
Construction in progress represents a building under ERTREERET - WA
construction, which is stated at cost less any impairment BERDREEEYER B Tg T
losses and is not depreciated. Cost comprises direct AITE - (RABIEZERHANE
cost of construction during the period of construction. BEORBERA -
3.5 FINANCIAL ASSETS 3.5 MBEE

Financial assets other than hedging instruments are
classified into the following categories: loans and
receivables, financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss, available-for-sale financial assets and held-to
maturity investments.

Management determines the classification of its financial
assets at initial recognition depending on the purpose
for which the financial assets were acquired and where
allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates this designation
at every reporting date.

REEYEREBAR —==\ 555 49
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For the year ended 30 June 2008
HE_ZZTN\FRA=+THLEFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 3.
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

S BEBE

—~
Zpe
i}
—

3.5 FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued) 35 BIBEE®

All financial assets are recognised when, and only when,
the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument. When financial assets are recognised
initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case
of investments not at fair value through profit or loss,
directly attributable transaction costs.

Derecognition of financial assets occurs when the rights
to receive cash flows from the investments expire or are
transferred and substantially all of the risks and rewards
of ownership have been transferred. At each balance
sheet date, financial assets are reviewed to assess
whether there is objective evidence of impairment. If any
of such evidence exists, impairment loss is determined
and recognised based on the classification of the
financial assets.

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
includes financial assets held for trading and financial
assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair value
through profit or loss.

Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they
are acquired for the purpose of selling in the near term.
Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives
are also classified as held for trading unless they are
designated as effective hedging instruments or financial
guarantee contracts.

Where a contract contains one or more embedded
derivatives, the entire hybrid contract may be designated
as a financial asset at fair value through profit or loss,
except where the embedded derivative does not
significantly modify the cash flows or it is clear that
separation of the embedded derivative is prohibited.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 3.
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.5 FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)

SEHHEREME @
3.5 BIBEE®

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (continued)

Financial assets may be designated at initial recognition
as at fair value through profit or loss if the following criteria
are met:

- the designation eliminates or significantly reduces
the inconsistent treatment that would otherwise
arise from measuring the assets or recognising
gains or losses on them on a different basis; or

- the assets are part of a group of financial assets
which are managed and their performance
evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance
with a documented risk management strategy
and information about the group of financial
assets is provided internally on that basis to the
key management personnel; or

- the financial asset contains an embedded
derivative that would need to be separately
recorded.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that
are either designated or not classified as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables
or held-to-maturity investments. At each balance sheet
date subsequent to initial recognition, available-for-sale
financial assets are measured at fair value. Changes in
fair value are recognised in equity, until the financial
assets is disposed of or is determined to be impaired,
at which time, the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognised in equity is removed from equity and
recognised in profit or loss. Any impairment losses on
available-for-sale financial assets are recognised in profit
or loss. Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity
investments will not reverse in profit or loss in subsequent
periods. For available-for-sale debt investments,
impairment losses are subsequently reversed if an
increase in the fair value of the investment can be
objectively related to an event occurring after the
recognition of the impairment loss.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 3.
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

SHBRBE @

3.5 FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued) 3.5 BIBEE®

Available-for-sale financial assets
(continued)

For available-for-sale equity investments that do not have
a quoted market price in an active market and whose
fair value cannot be reliably measured and derivatives
that are linked to and must be settled by delivery of such
unquoted equity instruments, they are measured to cost
less any identified impairment losses at each balance
sheet date subsequent to initial recognition. An
impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when there
is objective evidence that the assets is impaired. The
amount of the impairment loss is measured as the
difference between the carrying amount of the asset and
the present value of the estimated future cash flows
discounted at the current market rate of return for a
similar financial asset. Such impairment losses will not
reverse in subsequent periods.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount
comprising the difference between its cost (net of any
principal payment and amortisation) and its current fair
value, less any impairment loss previously recognised
in the income statement, is transferred from equity to
the income statement. A provision for impairment is
made for available-for-sale equity investments when
there has been a significant or prolonged decline in the
fair value below its cost or where other objective
evidence of impairment exists. The determination of what
s “significant” or “prolonged” requires judgement. In
addition, the Group evaluates other factors, such as the
share price volatility. Impairment losses on equity
instruments classified as available for sale are not
reversed through the income statement.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 3. TESTHEMEw
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.5 FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued) 35 BIBEE®

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. Trade receivables are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less any impairment losses. Amortised cost is
calculated taking into account any discount or premium
on acquisition and includes fees that are an integral part
of the effective interest rate and transaction cost.

Impairment of financial assets

B Z B W AR

B RBEARSEABELATE
FE N RIE B A S BR T SRE N
FTEMBEE - B 5 R
HIRA BRI SRR 3 SHA AR
ERPREREE - st E#HEX
REFET KA AU SOR(E -
W EEERBERERNERRS

R B -
MBEERE

NEEER AR AR L IEZ
R LA M SRE TR 51 AR #9755
BE  UHERAHFERENSE
BlEE  SHREERE  ORE
ERAIE T OGN 8 MR -

At each balance sheet date, financial assets other than
at fair value through profit or loss are reviewed to
determine whether there is any objective evidence of
impairment. If any such evidence exists, the impairment
loss is measured and recognised as follows:

Trade receivables Z 5 W R

i) 1 3R R B AR PR R DA SRR AR
ABREE Z AR LB ERE
B BREREZEENKRAE
B IAZ T B E IR BRRF R IR
Mt ARRR S RENRE (T
BREDAEENRAKERER)
ZRMEREAE - BIREEIRN
BB A MR N K RER -

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on
trade receivables carried at amortised cost has been
incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding
future credit losses that have not been incurred)
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate. The amount of the loss is recognised in
the income statement of the period in which the
impairment occurs.

WEERREBBESERLD - M
A RRE A F B AR E 1R
BENFMHAME  RIBEEE
FERMBERTR - R BERE
EATGEBMHEERAER
3B 40 48 e BB (E 1O IR B B SH X
7R o 7105 BRI R B 3 A IR
Was kP RER

If, in subsequent period, the amount of the impairment
loss decreases and the decrease can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
was recognised, the previously recognised impairment
loss is reversed to the extent that it does not result in a
carrying amount of the financial asset exceeding what
the amortised cost would have been had the impairment
not been recognised at the date the impairment is
reversed. The amount of the reversal is recognised in
the income statement of the period in which the reversal
occurs.
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For the year ended 30 June 2008
HEZTTZ )/ \FAA=THLFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 3.
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

- 1]13

FESHBEERME @

3.6 INVENTORIES 3.6 &
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net TFEUAAER SR FERE 2
realisable value. Cost is determined using weighted BIRE SR o BANER A NEE TS
average method and, in the case of work in progress FORTE - MR ER S MR &
and finished goods, comprise direct materials, where T ORABREEEME (HE
applicable, direct labour and an appropriate proportion A EESIREELHI/NE
of overheads. Net realisable value is the estimated selling B - B FEAEBBER
price in the ordinary course of business less any ARG EEREMERIEE
applicable selling expenses. X e

3.7 INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND RESEARCH 37 BEREERMERA

AND DEVELOPMENT COSTS
Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are recognised
initially at cost. After initial recognition, intangible assets
with finite useful lives are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets
with finite useful lives is provided on straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are carried
at cost less any subsequent accumulated impairment
losses. Intangible assets are tested for impairment as
described below in note 3.11. Amortisation commences
when the intangible assets are available for use.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 June 2008
HEZTTZ )/ \FAA=THLFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 3. TESTHEMEw

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.7

INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND RESEARCH
AND DEVELOPMENT COSTS (continued)

Research and development costs

Costs associated with research activities are expensed
in the income statement as they occur. Costs that are
directly attributable to the development phase are
recognised as intangible assets provided they meet the
following recognition requirements:

(i) demonstration of technical feasibility of the
prospective product for internal use or sale;

(if) there is intention to complete the intangible asset
and use or sell it;

(i) the Group’s ability to use or sell the intangible
asset is demonstrated;

(iv)  the intangible asset will generate probable
economic benefits through internal use or sale;

(v) sufficient technical, financial and other resources
are available for completion; and

(Vi) the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset
can be reliably measured.

Direct costs include employee costs incurred on
development along with an appropriate portion of
relevant overheads. The costs of internally generated
product developments are recognised as intangible
assets. They are subject to the same subsequent
measurement method as externally acquired intangible
assets.

All other development costs are expensed as incurred.

3.7
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 June 2008
HE_ZZTN\FRA=+THLEFE

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.

TE

SEHHEESE @

3.8 PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS 3.8 AMFLHBEERNRK
Prepaid land lease payments represent up-front AR T E IR A
payments to acquire the land use rights/leasehold land. FAtE/THE TR TR FRIE - %
They are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation LRIBIR R AN R AT S R 25T
and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisations are REEIES R o BN T AHH
charged to the consolidated income statement over the NIREBERERE W m KN
remaining period of the lease on a straight line basis. B o

3.9 INCOME TAX 3.9 M

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
deferred tax. Current income tax assets and/or liabilities
comprise those obligations to, or claims from, tax
authorities relating to the current or prior reporting period,
that are unpaid at the balance sheet date. They are
calculated according to the tax rates and tax laws
applicable to the periods to which they relate, based on
the taxable profit for the year. All changes to current tax
assets or liabilities are recognised as a component of
tax expense in the income statement.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or
recoverable on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in
the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for
using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, and deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the tax profit
nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

56 Vitop Bioenergy Holdings Limited Annual Report 2008

REFEHREBEMRHELE
FEMIE o BNEPRS I AER, 3
BESBEAHIGEE 2 HME
(MREE B AR - A%
ERBAHRE IR E B
ERER - ZFERIIREFA
R SR 48 M) 12 4 A A 9 PR e 75
REBETE - BHHIAEER
BENMBEHN KGR ER S
HIRF ST — 8B 1D e

ERERATEV I RERTEER
B EMBRE(E R HERBUEF
B P ER AR RO ARPE R B 2 IO 2= 38
o TERTZASAA AT W B By R
B WRAEEARBRAEBEA
fr o REMBBE-RERAE
FERTE B2 RIFLHER - iR
JEFRTAE ERIAE AR ATBEA B
AREUEMHA AR E R ER
RARETTHER © MR ST Y]
SHRARMEERRBEMELN
ERNERETGTENHRNRE
N - AT R ERZ RN
HEEKAR-

EERIRABTIRRHE 2R
BREMELNERNEREZET
VARERR - MEASRE AR iy =
ENBONERERAEETE
AR 555 2 8 2 R BR 5P o



T

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 June 2008
HE_ZZTN\FRA=+THLEFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 3.
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

FESHERBE @

3.9 INCOME TAX (continued) 3.9 FrfE#Hi e

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent
that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profit
will be available.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.
Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the year when the liability is settled
or the asset realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited
to the income statement, except when it relates to items
charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the
deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.

3.10 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and in
hand as well as short term bank deposits.

3.11 IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and
interests in subsidiaries are subject to impairment testing.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately for the amount by which the asset’s carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of fair value, reflecting
market conditions less costs to sell, and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pretax
discount rate that reflects current market assessment
of time value of money and the risk specific to the asset.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 3. TESTBREME @
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.11 IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS (continued) 3. EERE®
For the purposes of assessing impairment, where an PEMEREMS - WEEMEE
asset does not generate cash inflows largely KRS MARER E B IR HEA
independent from those from other assets, the BEMEEMBASRA - BIABE
recoverable amount is determined for the smallest group VEARSRANSNEERR
of assets that generate cash inflows independently (i.e. (BDIR & EE A BB r) 2R F Al ik o)
a cash-generating unit). As a result, some assets are S8 o Bt - EEEFERIEST
tested individually for impairment and some are tested BWEAR  HHBERSEELS
at cash-generating unit level. i BIETT R, o
Impairment losses recognised for cash-generating units MR ELEMERNRESE
is charged pro rata to the assets in the cash generating DA BZReELASVEE
unit, except that the carrying value of an asset will not PR EEEREERTSH
be reduced below its individual fair value less cost to R EE R A TFER D EK
sell, or value in use, if determinable. RN fEREME (MAEE) I o
An impairment is reversed if there has been a favourable fisi FA DATEE TE & 2= AT UK Bl 2 5B A9 4
change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s STHIREAMEE - Blg & O
recoverable amount and only to the extent that the & EEERRENMSEAMIL
asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying EERREBERREETHNR
amount that would have been determined, net of EE (FIBRITES ) - BEa
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had WEEEE T AETHRE 8
been recognised. A reversal of an impairment loss is HEm s EmRA -
credited to the income statement in the period in which
it arises.
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For the year ended 30 June 2008
HE_ZZTN\FRA=+THLEFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 3. TESTHEMEw
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.12 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 3.12EEE A
(i) Retirement benefits scheme (i) BIKEFE
The Group operates a defined contribution REBEBEEG M QR
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits DETENERIER B E M
scheme (the “Retirement Scheme”) under the o 1 AR S RIKE
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance FMErE (TRREHED) -
for those employees who are eligible to HRAZSEAEKS R
participate in the Retirement Scheme. BARFTEINES - iR
Contributions are made based on a percentage DIRBEREEERF SN
of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged ERBDLLEE - R
to the income statement as they become payable B R R ET 8 89 R B R
in accordance with the rules of the Retirement FI| HA i A<F B 7E W2 A 5% A
Scheme. The assets of the Retirement Scheme Br o RIKETEIRE EH
are held separately from those of the Group in REEMEED HF
an independently administered fund. The Group’s B HBEIVYEENESR
employer contributions vest fully with the B o NEEMEIKRET
employees when contributed into the Retirement EMEREEHZE - B
Scheme except for the Group’s employer AR EREAN
voluntary contributions, which are refunded to the B EAEENBEMEE
Group when an employee leaves employment FHRBRI - MEREE
prior to the contributions vesting fully, in RZEERHAREE
accordance with the rules of the Retirement KEMBRTHIER
Scheme. REE - BEMEFKAE
R HE R R ET 81 /9 48 BIR
BYAEH -
Pursuant to the relevant regulations of the BEPEBTREBR
government of the PRC, subsidiaries of the Group Bl - NEEEFRBELE
operating in the PRC are required to participate E¥BMB AR AES R
in an employee pension scheme operated by the PEBEEMTBRNER
relevant local government authorities in the PRC FRERNESRKESE
and to make contributions for employees who g WARERL AP R K
are registered as permanent residents in the PRC. ABRRMEEBELE#
Such contributions are charged to the income oo REMNKTIARE
statement as they become payable. FEH IR FE U ZR R HABR ©
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.

3.12 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

(ii)

Share-based
compensation

employee

The Group operates equity-settled share-based
compensation plans for remuneration of its
employees.

All employee services received in exchange for
the grant of any share-based compensation are
measured at their fair values. These are indirectly
determined by reference to the share options
awarded. The value is appraised at the grant date
and excludes the impact of any nonmarket
vesting conditions.

All share-based compensation is recognised as

3.

FESHBEERME @

3.12BEEH @

(ii)

IR NHES
% i

AEBBIEEREET
VAR A S A B Bt 81 75
HESREHH -

P & B AR (AT LA
B An AN 0 6 B ) AR 75 4%
NFEFE - AE2EL
BRHBRRREETE -
ZERBOEERELE
BREE - BEEH RAEAISE

MZREBIRTOTE

P DARSCED ST A B9 B

an expense in income statement, unless it Wz kAR AR (5
qualifies for recognition as asset, with a HEWMRBBEERIN)

corresponding credit to share option reserve. If
vesting periods or other vesting conditions apply,
the expense is recognised over the vesting
period, based on the best available estimate of
the number of share options expected to vest.
Non-market vesting conditions are included in
assumptions about the number of options that
are expected to vest. Estimates are subsequently
revised, if there is any indication that the number
of share options expected to vest differs from
previous estimates. No adjustment to expense
recognised in prior periods is made if fewer share
options ultimately are exercised than originally
estimated.

At the time when the share options are exercised,
the amount previously recognised in share option
reserve will be transferred to share premium.
When the share options are forfeited or are still
not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve will
be transferred to retained profits.
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For the year ended 30 June 2008
HEZTTZ )/ \FAA=THLFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 3. FESHBEEHRE®
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

=114

(i) Share options granted to employees

Details of the accounting policy are set out in note
3.12(ii).

(ii) Share options granted to customers/
suppliers

Share options issued to customers/suppliers in
exchange for goods or services are measured at
the fair values of the goods or services received.
The fair values of the goods or services received
are recognised immediately as expenses, unless
the goods or services qualify for recognition as
assets.

3.14 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Financial liabilities are recognised when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual agreements of the
instrument. All interest related charges are recognised
as an expense in finance costs in the income statement.

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and are subsequently stated
at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds
(net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is
recognised in the income statement over the period of
the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet
date.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest rate method.

3.13EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED BB LIERGEEN LUIR©G
PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS XS

(i) RFEENBRE

S BURF B H M T

3.12(ii) °
(i) BFEF HERS
Y 8 AR R

BUOTTEP/HERN
BEE GRS H B X
RIS MR
B R FEFE o BRIEA
EmERBTAER
BRREE  BRIEM
ok AR 75 89 X F {8 B s B
R

3.14 B IS & &

B ERAKBKAZ RN
ERBHTOFRER - FTaH
AR R RS R R T R
RPBXHBETHFAX -

{ERNSIR A FEHRR TELE D
RHRANFER - BIRIE IR E
FXARDIER » FTS5IR (IR R 5
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 3. TESTHEMEw
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.15 SHARE CAPITAL 3.15 BB A<

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Share capital is
determined using the nominal value of shares that have
been issued.

Any transaction costs associated with the issuing of
shares are deducted from share premium (net of any
related income tax benefits) to the extent they are
incremental costs directly attributable to the equity
transaction.

3.16 INCOME RECOGNITION

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and when the
revenue can be measured reliably, on the following
bases:

(i) Revenue from the sales of goods is recognised
on the transfer of risks and rewards of ownership,
provided that the Group maintains neither
managerial involvement to the degree usually
associated with the ownership, nor effective
control over the goods sold;

(if) Interest income is recognised on a time
proportion basis, taking into account the principal
amounts outstanding and the effective interest
rates applicable; and

(iif) Dividend income is recognised when the Group’s
right as a shareholder to receive payment is
established.

3.17 GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received and the Group will comply with all
attached conditions. Government grants relating to costs
are deferred and recognised in the income statement in
gross amount over the period necessary to match them
with the costs that they are intended to compensate.
Government grants relating to the purchase of property,
plant and equipment are included in non-current liabilities
as deferred government grants and are recognised in
the income statement on a straight line basis over the
expected lives of the related assets.
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For the year ended 30 June 2008
HEZTTZ )/ \FAA=THLFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3. FESHEEHME @

3.18 RELATED PARTIES 3.18BAE AL
Parties are considered to be related to the Group if: WRREAEBEHAENAL
5 -

directly, or indirectly through one or more
intermediaries, the party:

- controls, is controlled by, or is under
common control with, the Group; or

- has an interest in the Group that gives it
significant influence over the Group; or

- has joint control over the Group;

(0

FR—EKZERNTAR
ok

— BHARE B
A B I
AEEE AR
SIMAL

- RAKEHB®
mEEEANEH
AAEARFE
HEAL 3K

- RAKEAHXR
AL

(i) the party is an associate or a jointly controlled (ii) BREE ARSI RE
entity; HIEBHATLT

(il)

(iv)

the party is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or its parent;

the party is a close member of the family or any
individual referred to in (i) or (iii);

the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly
controlled or significantly influenced by or for
which significant voting power in such entity
resides with, directly or indirectly, any individual
referred to in (iii) or (iv); or

(il)

(iv)

7358 () S (i) 6 BT At A fe] ]
ANERBEOAL

75 25 (iii) 8% (iv) 6 Bt £ {]
EA B i
HEEHSBEATEN
IBEEREEENEREY
AL sk

(vi)  the party is a post-employment benefit plan for (viy  AAREBENEBEEATH
the benefit of employees of the Group, or of any EREENESBHBEE

entity that is a related party of the Group.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 3.
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

FESHERBE @

3.19 OPERATING LEASES 319 REHY

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of
transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group
determines that arrangement conveys a right to use a
specific asset or assets for an agreed period of time in
return for a payment or a series of payments. Such a
determination is made based on an evaluation of the
substance of the arrangement and is regardless of
whether the arrangement takes the legal form of a lease.

Leases which do not transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership to the Group are classified as
operating leases. Where the Group has the use of assets
held under operating leases, payment made under the
leases are charged to the income statement on a straight
line basis over the lease terms.

3.20 FOREIGN CURRENCIES

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (HK$), which is also the functional currency of
the Company.

In the separate financial statements of the consolidated
entities, foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency of the individual entity using the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. At balance sheet date, monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
balance sheet date. Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies at year-end exchange
rates are recognised in the income statement.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 3.
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.20 FOREIGN CURRENCIES (continued)

EBREBE®

3.20 M ME (@)

In the consolidated financial statements, all separate
financial statements of subsidiaries and jointly controlled
entities originally presented in a currency different from
the Group’s presentation currency, have been converted
into Hong Kong dollars. Assets and liabilities have been
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the closing rate at
the balance sheet date. Income and expenses have been
converted into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates
ruling at the transaction dates, or the average rates over
the reporting period provided that the exchange rates
do not fluctuate significantly. Any differences arising from
this procedure have been dealt with in the translation
reserve in equity. Goodwill and fair value adjustments
arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity have been
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the closing rates.

3.21 FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACT

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires
the issuer (or guarantor) to make specified payments to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a
specified debtors fails to make payment when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Where the Group issues a financial guarantee, the fair
value of the guarantee is initially recognised as deferred
income within trade and other payables. Where
consideration is received or receivable for the issuance
of guarantee, the consideration is recognised in
accordance with the Group’s policies applicable to that
category of asset. Where no such consideration is
received or receivable, an immediate expense is
recognised as investment in subsidiaries on initial
recognition of any deferred income.

The amount of the guarantee initially recognised as
deferred income is amortised in the income statement
over the term of the guarantee as income from financial
guarantee issued. In addition, provisions are recognised
if and when it becomes probable that the holder of the
guarantee will call upon the Group under the guarantee
and the amount of that claim on the Group is expected
to exceed the current carrying amount, where
appropriate.

3.21
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 755 kB

For the year ended 30 June 2008
HE_ZZTN\FRA=+THLEFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 3. XFESTHRBEw
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.22 DIVIDENDS 3.22 R B
Final dividends proposed by the directors are classified EFERERIREA SRR SRR
as a separate allocation of retained profits or other TR AR EHEIREERT - TH5IE
distributable reserves, where appropriate, within the BEAEXREREB ARRE R
equity section of the balance sheet, until they have been kB A o R (E ) B
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. SAR o BRERSERRIE
When these dividends have been approved by the WEIR  AemRARE-
shareholders and declared, they are recognised as a
liability.
Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and FHEIRE TR EERRRNEIR
declared, because the Company’s memorandum and BEAR R A A EIR R R AR
articles of association grant the directors the authority ERMAETESENTIRFT H
to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim RS o At - PHIRERERIE
dividends are recognised immediately as a liability when BUWEIREREAERSAE -
they are proposed and declared.
4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 4, TESTHAFTRAER

AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal to the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are discussed below.

() IMPAIRMENT OF RECEIVABLES

The Group’s management determines impairment of
receivables on a regular basis. This estimate is based
on the credit history of its customers and current market
conditions. The management of the Group reassesses
the impairment of receivables at the balance sheet date.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 June 2008
HEZTTZ )/ \FAA=THLFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 4, FTESTHETTRHAE @

AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(I) IMPAIRMENT OF INVENTORIES (m =FERE
In determining the amount of allowance required for REERE N IHFERTER
obsolete and slow-moving inventories, the Group would MR - NEEBTHHT EHREE
evaluate ageing analysis of inventories and compare the RS - WEBFEMNREE
carrying value of inventories to their respective net HEXAAFRFE - ERE
realisable values. A considerable amount of judgement ZERBRRELRENE - &
is required in determining such allowance. If conditions FEFENERFENERE
which have impact on the net realisable value of - BIPJ R G N EA4E o
inventories deteriorate, additional allowances may be
required.

() AMORTISATION OF INTANGIBLE (m) E|EREE#H
ASSETS
The Company amortises its intangible assets on a AARNESE R"EEERE
straight-line basis over the estimated useful life ranged EfRERZ AR =2 +FH
from three to ten years, commencing from the date on TERTPI SR B E o
which the intangible assets are available for use. The TEFT A R HRRIE S AT AR
estimated useful life reflects the directors’ estimate of AlFTEIFRAEEREERERK
the periods that the company intends to derive future BRI 2= A EAR o
economic benefits from its intangible assets.

(IV) IMPAIRMENT TEST OF ASSETS (Iv) EERERR

The Group determines whether an asset is impaired at
least on an annual basis or where an indication of
impairment exists. This requires an estimation of the
value in use of the asset. Estimating the value in use
requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected
future cash flows from the assets and also to choose a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 5 R AR MY

For the year ended 30 June 2008

HE—

5.

ZNFRA=ZTHILEFE
SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segment information is presented by way of two segment
formats: (i) on a primary segment reporting basis, by business
segment; and (i) on a secondary segment reporting basis, by
geographical segment.

The Group’s operating businesses are structured and managed
separately, according to the nature of their operations and the
products they sell. Each of the Group’s business segments
represents a strategic business unit that offers products which
are subject to risks and returns that are different from those of
the other business segments.

Summary details of the business segments are as follows:

- the BlOenergy® products segment consists of the
manufacturing and trading of bedding products,
underclothing and body protection accessories
containing the BIOenergy® compound;

- the healthcare food products segment consists of the
trading of healthcare food products, including
polypeptide products;

- the multi-functional water generators segment consists
of the manufacturing and trading of multi-functional water
generators; and

- the “others” segment consists of the trading of other
healthcare products and others.

In determining the Group’s geographical segments, revenues
and results are attributed to the segments based on the location
of the customers, and assets are attributed to the segments
on the location of the assets.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 3% S AR M B

For the year ended 30 June 2008
HEZTTZ )/ \FAA=THLFE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. TEER @
(A) BUSINESS SEGMENTS (A) Ko
The following tables present revenue, results and certain THREINREBEG D E ok
assets, liabilities and expenditure information for the W EERAETEE  aENMHA
Group’s business segments: AR
BlOenergy® Healthcare Multi-functional
products food products water generators Others Consolidated
REZRSIER RERR EYEL YS! -4 &

2000 2007 2008 2007 208 007 2008 2000 208 2007
SRRNE CTTLF ZRRNF CTECF CRRNE CTELF CRRNE CETLF ZRRNF TR
HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKSO000  HKS'000 HKS000  HKS000  HKSO00  HKS000  HKS'000
TRn TEr TEn TEn TEn  TAT TR TEr  TEn  TER

Segment revenue: Al
Seles to extemal customers 1 5P HE 21389 20998 27,952 24631 60,843 5579 953 2850 111,137 104247
Segment results x4 2805 2698 3666 2463 7919 7410 125 (1302 14575 11269
Unallocated other income R EMA 3319 49
Unallocated expenses AHERR (26,823) (29,608
Loss from operating activiies 4% & (8,369  (13617)
Finance cost BB (19) 2r3)
(Loss}/gain on disposal HEHBAF

of subsidiaries (B8)/ & (328) 682
(Gain on disposal of a HERRZ5]

jointly-controlled entity e - 1161
Loss before income tax ~—~~ BRAERAEE (9,356 (12,047)
Income tax expense FERRRT 079 (174
Loss for the year TEERE (10,038)  (12.221)
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B RS RR M

For the year ended 30 June 2008
HEZTTZ )/ \FAA=THLFE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(A)

BUSINESS SEGMENTS (continued)

5. DEHER @
(A) ¥XK2I @

T

BlOenergy® Healthcare Multi-functional
products food products water generators Others Consolidated
REZRIIER RiEeR SMEELE i &e
2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
ZEEN\E C554F ZEENE C554F CEENE C554F ZEENE C35LF ZEENE _T54F
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HKS000  HK$'000 HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
Tén TEr TEn  TEr  THn  TEr  TEn  TEr  TEr TEn
Segment assets APEE 8132 10214 1868 1165 5862 4724 1,193 79 16855 16,899
Unallocated assets AOLEE 67,241 5848
Total assets BiE 84102 75357
Segment liabilities AHaE
Unallocated liabilities EIIEL 26,292 31413
Total liabiltes BER 26292 31413
Other segment A2 HER
information:
Depreciation il 17 103 - 11 17 114
Unallocated amount of AOMAELE
depreciation 317 4930
3,834 5,044
Amortisation of BYEENEE
intanglole assets 2 1,425 1,512 575 - - - - 1,514 2,000
Capital expenditure BAR% 66 10 - 12 66 117
Unallocated amounts ROMERRY
of capital expenditure % 22,881 612
2,47 729
Provision for obsolete and R E %34
slow-moving inventories  FEEE - 286 29 311 1,338 311 1919
Unallocated provision ZHEWERR
for impairment of HERS DG
frade receivables and REMERES
deposits, prepayment RERAERE
and other receivables 567 1,766
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HEZTT N \FRNA=+HLEFE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. oHER @
(B) GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS (B) b7 If
A geographical analysis of the Group’s revenue, certain FR A AR S B i [ 55 356 (R B B
asset and expenditure information is not presented as SN R EREELNENSE
the Group’s revenue and assets in geographical BEFFUEN10% W E 25K
segments other than the PRC are less than 10% of the SEZMEESNNE  BETE
aggregate amount of all segments. ERFAZERSH -
6. REVENUE 6. W=
Revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover, represents the W TMRIAAEBMERERE  EEHN
net invoiced value of goods sold, after allowances for returns BRRERB SN (WER) EHHEE
and trade discounts where applicable. All significant intra-group mEEFE FEEEATNERARZS
transactions have been eliminated on consolidation. BERERERE R -
7. OTHERINCOME 7. HMWA
Group
2008 2007
—EENE —ETLF
HK$°000 HK$’'000
FTHExT FHET
Interest income B A 1,348 864
Government grants B 7 B W 2 - 2,700
Reversal of impairment Loss BOBEFEES
on trade receivables FE R SR B B 18
in previous year 660 -
Others EHh 1,371 1,358
3,379 4,922
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8. LOSS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES REEE
Loss from operating activities is arrived at after charging/ rEBBEENGR, GEA) THIEE :
(crediting):
Group
KEME
2008 2007
—EENF —TTLF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTExT FHET
Auditors’ remuneration 1% BRI B & 470 438
Cost of inventories sold EHGFERA 61,962 60,826
Staff costs B TA
Directors’ remuneration ESETn
(note 14(A)) (M EE14(A) 6,308 3,835
Wages and salaries TERE® 22,813 16,543
Pension scheme contributions BRIRSFH B 1,347 988
30,468 21,366
Depreciation e 3,834 5,044
Amortisation of intangible assets* 7 & 7= # 4~ 1,514 2,000
Exchange gain, net PE 5 U 550 58 (6) (73)
Operating lease charges in BIE T RIEFH
respect of land and buildings EERYRY 3,933 3,341
Impairment loss on trade B 5 W R BB
receivables* 567 1,766
Provision for obsolete and BRE R % SH 7 B &
slow-moving inventories® 311 1,919
(Gain)/loss on disposal of LEWE - BER
property, plant and equipment =R &EH (Y i) EE (14) 104
Fair value loss on financial 6 TE AR A FE s F sk
assets designated at fair EIEF BRI IS B E
value through profit or loss* N EEE" 194 124

*included in other operating expenses
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HEZTT N \FRNA=+HLEFE

9. FINANCE COSTS 9. HM&HXZH
Group
rEE
2008 2007
—EEN\F —EE+F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHET
Interest on bank loans HERRAFREEEE
wholly repayable within B ERTT B RS
five years 159 273
10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 10. FAIEBIFAX
Hong Kong Profits Tax has not been provided as the Group BHRAEBRERNEER B EERT S
had no assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the year MZZEZTLF - &) WAEEELES
(2007: Nil). Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been RS TR o BT B M R B i I Y
calculated at the applicable rates of tax prevailing in the MDA EESEEBN e AR E
jurisdiction in which the Group operates, based on existing FrHEAB R E - WRBRF A&
legislation, interpretations and practices in respect thereof BIEEHEG REREFIME -
during the year.
Group
2008 2007
—EENFE —ETLF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Current — PRC BIHA —
Charge for the year REEZH 679 174
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

Reconciliation between income tax expense and accounting

10.

B m

BERAREGFENAERAX LGB

loss at applicable tax rates is as follows: BHENT
Group
AEE
2008 2007
—EEN\E e
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET T
Loss before income tax B FT1S B AT ES 18 (9,356) (12,047)
Tax at the applicable tax rates BEAHRERTENTRIE

(Note a) =) (472) (2,021)
Tax effect of non-deductible R HE B S M B A 2 2

expenses 1,465 581
Tax effect of non-taxable income 78 =2 %5 W A 89 8 74 52 2 (1,349) (202)
Tax effect of temporary ARTHEREREEN

differences not recognised G4 212 505
Tax effect of tax losses not RERBBEEENRBEZE

recognised 2,054 1,507
Tax benefit from tax holiday o B BR RO B 75 B 2R (P 7EDb)

(Note b) (1,231) (196)
Income tax expense FriS i & 679 174
Notes: B 5E -

a. The applicable rates are the rates prevailing in the jurisdictions a. BRAMEAARNG REKEQRK

in which the Company and its subsidiaries operate.

b. In accordance with the applicable corporate income tax law of
the PRC, the Company’s subsidiaries established in the PRC
are entitled to an exemption from PRC corporate income tax
for the first two profitable calendar years of its operation and a
50% relief on corporate income tax for the following three years.

74 Vitop Bioenergy Holdings Limited Annual Report 2008

BEBHFAEE SR HBE o

b. RBEANTREEERSHE - K
RERFEKIOKEAREE®R
EE1S B e F EEH R 2 B
LEMSH - WK =FERR

—HEMREH -



T

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 5 R AR MY

For the year ended 30 June 2008

BH=
10.

11.

12.

13.

“EENFRA=THLEFE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

At the balance sheet date, the Group has unused tax losses of
HK$55,324,000 (2007: HK$47,585,000) available for offsetting
against future taxable profits of the companies which incurred
the losses. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in
respect of these losses due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams.

As at 30 June 2008, the Group and the Company did not have
any significant unprovided deferred tax liabilities (2007: Nil).

LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

Of the consolidated loss attributable to equity holder of the
Company of approximately HK$10,225,000 (2007: loss of
HK$12,681,000), a loss of approximately HK$7,464,000 (2007:
loss of HK$9,090,000) has been dealt with in the financial
statements of the Company.

DIVIDENDS

No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company during
the years presented in these financial statements.

LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on loss
attributable to equity holders for the year ended 30 June 2008
of approximately HK$10,225,000 (2007: loss of
HK$12,681,000) and the weighted average of 732,022,566
(2007: the weighted average of 698,543,104) ordinary shares
in issue during the year.

Diluted results per share for the years ended 30 June 2008
and 2007 were not presented because the impact of the
exercise of share option was anti-dilutive.

10.

11.

12.

13.

FRr&®iR X @

REREB  AEBHKRSARIEEE
£55,324,0008 T (ZEZF+F :
47,585,000/ 7T) - Al ELEEE
B A BRI AR R FER TR T o A AREE
EARREFBE - B R % S B 1E T
RIETEFIBEE -

RZFZNFRA=1TH AEEKK
REAEEFRERENERRLERIA

EE(CETLE ) o
AATEREE AENL
i

R #710,225,0008 T (ZET+F : B
812,681,000 70) AR A EZFE
ABLGEERES  NARIRU KR
FKNEEREEL A7,464,000%8 T (=
TE+F : 5189,090,0008T) °

=)

RZEMBHRREIINESFE - AAF
WK HEIRERRS

ARmEREE AERG
BREER

BREAEEIBEHE ST N\FN
A=THIFE#=EEARBLEED
10,225,000 T (ZEELF : BIE
12,681,000/ 7T) &5 A B 81T it F
3B A% 732,022,566/% (- EEA4F ¢
JNkE 19 2698,543,104/%) 51 & -
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14. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 14. EERTEBBESHES
EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION &
(A) DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (A) EEME
The directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to the RIE EARRREEREEGIE
Listing Rules and Section 161 of the Hong Kong 1611 EEMeNBERLT :

Companies Ordinance is as follows:

Group
AEH
2008 2007
—EEN\HFE —ETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Fees we 126 150
Other emoluments: Hip i< -
Salaries, allowances e RMREYFR
and benefits in kind 6,170 3,655
Pension scheme BRIRSFH B
contributions 12 30
6,182 3,685
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14. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES' REMUNERATION (continued)

(A) DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued) (A) EEME

BE_TZ\FR_ZTTLER
A=THLEFE  SUESHM

The emoluments of each director, on a named basis, for
the years ended 30 June 2008 and 2007 are set out

below: SEREGRMET
Year ended 30 June 2008 BE-ZZENFAA=THLEF
E
Salaries,
allowance Pension
Director and benefits scheme
fees in kind contributions Total
A= 121 Bk
ExHS RENFE FHERR &t
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
TERL TEL TERL TERL
Hung Kai So (Note 5) M gk (Ff3Es) - 779 - 779
Han Xiaoyue, George BER - 1,609 - 1,609
Chen Henglong FYEES - 1,732 - 1,732
Zhang He O - 1,468 - 1,468
Chan Yuk Tong BREX - 719 12 731
Liu Jun (Note 6) 21 (fif3x6) - 374 - 374
Kam loi (Note 7) &8 (M7 - 248 - 248
Tse Kam Fai (Note 8) i 80 % (FiEE8) - 98 - 98
Zhang Fan (Note 8) & N (FT3E8) - 61 - 61
Xu Nian Chun (Note 9) ok (M) - - - -
Han Qingyun (Note 10) BEE (10 - - - -
Guo Yan Ni (Note 10) 2P 9E (Ff15E10) - - - -
Zhang Wen (Note 10) o5& 3 (HEEE10) - - - -
Zhu Jing Hua (Note 10) K& ZE (Bif5E10) - - - -
Long Minfei (Note 11) BEAMR (M) - - - -
Li Xinzhong (Note 12) FHH (HE12) - 61 - 61
Yuan Tsu | (Note 13) =A% (F13E13) 33 - - 33
Chan Chiu Hung Alex BR &1
(Note 13) (MF#E13) 53 - - 53
Li Li Te (Note 14) FE5 (14 40 - - 40
Total 2008 —EENEAH 126 6,170 12 6,308
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14. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 14. EERTEHESHFES

EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION (continued) BN = @)
(A) DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued) (A) EE@M 2w
Year ended 30 June 2007 He T +HHXA=+HIEE
IE}
Salaries,
allowance Pension
Director and benefits scheme
fees in kind contributions Total
e e BiRe
EEYkn REWH = FHEIfR At
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHL FAL FHL FHL
Hung Kai So s - 183 - 183
Kam loi T - 1,088 2 1,090
Ma Yufeng (Note 1) Bkg (1) - 439 4 443
Liu Jun 21 - 754 8 762
Chan Yuk Tong REX - 770 12 782
Yuan Tsu | =R 50 - - 50
LiLiTe ZER 50 - - 50
Chan Chiu Hung, Alex PR 21134 50 - - 50
Zhang He (Note 2) s (i 3E2) - - - -
Chen Henglong (Note 2)  [R1E % (fiizt2) - - - -
Ying Yoke Nean, John HORF
(Note 3) (F7E3) - 421 4 425
Han Xiaoyue, George Eli=g
(Note 4) GED) - - - -
Total 2007 ZETLFA 150 3,655 30 3,835
Notes: Wizt -

Resigned on 5 December 2006

Appointed on 14 May 2007

Appointed on 5 December 2006 and resigned
on 283 April 2007

Appointed on 23 April 2007

Resigned on 25 February 2008

Resigned on 28 April 2008

Resigned on 14 May 2007

Appointed on 25 February 2008 and resigned
on 15 April 2008

Appointed on 15 February 2008

Appointed on 15 April 2008

Appointed on 28 April 2008

Appointed on 25 February 2008

Resigned on 28 February 2008

Resigned on 15 April 2008
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For the year ended 30 June 2008
HEZTTZ )/ \FAA=THLFE

14. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES' REMUNERATION (continued)

14. EENEEBRESHEE
N € =

(A) DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued) (A) EEMEw
Fees include HK$126,000 (2007: HK$150,000) payable MERERNTELIENTES
to the independent non-executive directors. There were #126,0008 L (ZEE+F :
no other emoluments payable to the independent non- 150,000 7T) © £ » WA
executive directors during the year (2007: Nil). AT EAL N TR IEBITEEM

e (ZTTEF - &) o

There was no arrangement under which a director RBE_ZZNFR_ZTTLF
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the NA=ZTHILFE WEEEH
years ended 30 June 2008 and 2007. S EERE TS THE
During the year, six directors (2007: two) have been FHN - RBEF(CETLF
granted with share options in respect of their services M) BEEHARERNRBEM
to the Group and further details of which were set out in BRERE - HE—PHEEN
note 26 to the financial statements. B 7% ¥R = B 526 o

(B) FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (B) EBBREHAL

The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the
year included four (2007: three) directors, details of
whose emoluments have been disclosed in note (A)
above. The emoluments paid to the remaining one (2007:
two) non-directors, highest paid individuals for the year

FR - AEELEZESHFALE
EONE(ZETEF  ZR)E
= RENMESFHBD R XM
EAHE - FAXN FEHEH—
H(CTREF MR FES

are as follows: EaF ALTHBEmT
Group
AEH
2008 2007
—EENE —ETLF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Salaries, allowances e RUEREDI R
and benefits in kind 984 2,047
Pension scheme BRIREET B
contributions 12 23
996 2,070
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For the year ended 30 June 2008
HEZTT N \FRNA=+HLEFE

14. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 14. EERAIEREFHESR
EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION (continued) W<€
(B) FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (B) ABBREHALTE
(continued)
The number of the remaining highest paid individuals ESMEN T THEN =
whose emoluments fell within the following band is as ATHIABAT -
follows:
2008 2007
—EENF —TELF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTExT FHET
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ 21,000,000/ 7T 1 -
HK$1,000,001 to 1,000,001 T ZE
HK$1,100,000 1,100,000/ 7T - 2
During the years ended 30 June 2008 and 2007, no REBEZE_ZEZENER_ZBZLHF
emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors or NAZTHIEFE  mEEWE
any of the five highest paid employees of the Group as MESHENASERERS %
an inducement to join the Group or upon joining the EEZNME  EAMAREE
Group or as compensation for loss of office. SNAZRE B & 0 2B Sk ARk
B (E o
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15. PROPERTY,PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. ¥ - BENKE

Group rE
Machinery Furniture
Leasehold and  and office Motor
improvements  equipment equipment vehicles Total
HER
HEVEEL BERRE BLZERE RE @5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000
FET TET TET FET FET
At 1 July 2006 RZETFLA—H
Cost XA 12,111 1,824 15,232 2,704 31,871
Accumulated depreciation 2EE (6,715) (1,315) (8,937) (2,359) (19,326)
Net book amount REFE 5,396 509 6,295 345 12,545
Year ended 30 June 2007 B2 -ZT+HF
NAZTHLERE

Opening net book amount FORBFE 5,396 509 6,295 345 12,545
Additions RE 311 103 315 - 729
Disposal HE (215) (113) (14) - (342)
Depreciation e (2,615) 171) (2,116) (142) (5,044)
Translation adjustment ERTE ke 436 43 507 28 1,014
Net book amount REFE 3,313 371 4,987 231 8,902
At 30 June 2007 and R-EZ+F A=A

1 July 2007 e e s =
Cost PR 12,742 1,047 16,028 2,925 33,642
Accumulated depreciation BitiE (9,429) (1,576) (11,041) (2,694) (24,740)
Net book amount REFE 3,313 371 4,987 231 8,902
Year ended 30 June 2008 BE-_ZTTN\F

NAZTHLEEE

Opening net book amount FNEEFE 3,313 371 4,987 231 8,902
Additions NE 253 - 465 529 1,247
Disposal HE - (363) (30) (14) (407)
Depreciation e (2,087) 3) (1,539) (205) (3,834)
Translation adjustment ER Ik 314 326 19 660
Net book amount REFE 1,793 6 4,209 560 6,568
At 30 June 2008 RZEENFRA=1H
Cost PX R 13,989 1,585 17,712 3,165 36,451
Accumulated depreciation 2FtE (12,196) (1,579) (13,503) (2,605) (29,883)
Net book amount REFE 1,793 6 4,209 560 6,568
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16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 16. BMILEE
Group AEH
Patents and Deferred
technical development
know-how costs Total
ERER ERE
9 0 5 %N et
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FAET FET
At 1 July 2006 RZEEXF+LA—H
Cost BN 1,705 6,437 8,142
Accumulated amortisation EETHE Y (1,263) (5,106) (6,369)
Net book amount RmEFE 442 1,331 1,773
Year ended 30 June 2007 BE-_ZT+F
NAZTHIEFE
Opening net book amount FYIRMmFE 442 1,331 1,773
Addition NE 3,708 - 3,708
Amortistaion 5 (575) (1,425) (2,000)
Translation adjustment ke 37 108 145
Net book amount IREFE 3,612 14 3,626
At 30 June 2007 and RZETLF
1 July 2007 AV = =03
—EE+F+HA—H
Cost BN 5,552 6,961 12,513
Accumulated amortisation EETHEH (1,940) (6,947) (8,887)
Net book amount BREFE 3,612 14 3,626
Year ended 30 June 2008 BE-_ZZN\F
NAZTHIEFE
Opening net book amount FYIRMmFE 3,612 14 3,626
Amortistaion 5 (1,512) 2) (1,514)
Translation adjustment ke 284 1 285
Net book amount IREFE 2,384 13 2,397
At 30 June 2008 RZETNF
~NAZ=Z+H
Cost BN 5,989 7,510 13,499
Accumulated amortisation ZEH (3,605) (7,497) (11,102)
Net book amount BRME R {E 2,384 13 2,397
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17. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 17. R B AN ER
Company
¥ NN

2008 2007

—EENF TEELF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FiE T

Unlisted investments, at cost ELEMEE - BRA 39,952 39,952
Less: Provision for impairment B R E (10,261) (10,261)
29,691 29,691

Due from subsidiaries JEUS B B~ R Rk IE 7,928 18,902
Due to subsidiaries JFEAS BT B 2 RIAFIE (7,999) (7,619)
As at 30 June 2008, the balances with subsidiaries are RITBEZNERA=TH " HWBAFY
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. Accordingly, EHRDERR - 2 E RN EHRERE -
the amounts due from/(to) subsidiaries are classified as current El - e (A BB A R I FIE Ty

assets/liabilities. NAERBEE, BE -
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17. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 17. REB AR ER @

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 30 June 2008 are

RZZZNFRA=1H TEHNBR

as follows: AIMFEBAT :
Place of Particulars of Percentage
incorporation/ issued capital/ of equity
establishment registered attributable Principal
Name and operations capital to the Group activities
SRR IR BRITRE/ rEEER
A% e SRR AF BREEOL TEXK
Direct Indirect
B &
Vitop Bioenergy Limited British Virgin 1 share of US$1 each 100% - Investment holding
Islands (“BVI")
REENIRERDA XERNES gREBIET REER
([RBEXEE]) 1R
Vitop Bioengery (China) PRC Registered capital of - 100% Manufacturing and
Ltd* (“Vitop China”) HK$50,000,000 trade of BlOenergy®
products, and trading
of multi-functional
water generators,
healthcare food
products and other
healthcare products
REEY (FH) el ARA EERBERFER®
BRRAE (TRERE]) 50,000,000/ 70 ZilER  HES
MEBOKHE - REE
RmREMERE®
Vitop Healthcare Product Hong Kong 2 shares of HK$1 each - 100% Trading of
Limited BlOenergy® products
RERRERERAR Bk BREBTET HERFROZS
M2m i Em
BIEREEERRRR PRC Registered capital of - 80% Manufacturing and trading
EREERA RMB5,840,000 of multi-functional
water generators
el HRA HERBES A
AR%5,840,0007T Bk
Vitop International BVI 450,000 shares of - 100% Investment holding
Limited (“VIL") US$1 each
XERNES gREBIET REAZR
£450,000f% 1 {3

*  Registered as wholly-foreign owned enterprise (“WOFE”) under the

PRC law.

** Registered as Sino-foreign joint venture under the PRC law.
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BE
17.

18.

“EENFRA=THLEFE

INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 17. REBARINER @
The financial statements of the above subsidiaries are audited LB AR ERR I BAEHEE
by NCN CPA Limited for statutory purpose or Group MEHFBRARAZET BN AEE
consolidation purpose. FEBRBNERZ -
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which EREBIERRFNHB AR - NARE
have, in the opinion of the Company’s directors, principally RE MWEWBRRETERELRFE
affected the results of the year or formed a substantial portion MELESARAEBEERAGBHEE
of the assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details of other Bty o RRRERRA - (MR HLE b
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Company’s directors, BARFMEZERERNERRAR -
results in particulars of excessive length.
FINANCIAL ASSETS DESIGNATED AT 18. BEAR LA FEURR
FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS REEIERNMKEE
Group
KEH
2008 2007
—EENF —ETLF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHBT T
Structured notes with embedded A& 574 T A H & #1E
derivatives, at fair value =g BT E 2,162 2,356
The structured notes with embedded derivatives as at 30 June RZZEZENFASA=FTH " ASITAETL
2008 were classified as financial assets designated at fair value AMERMEBREIERERZEATE

through profit or loss. Fair value of the structured notes with
embedded derivatives as at 30 June 2008 has been determined
by reference to the quotation provided by the bank. Financial
assets designated at fair value through profit or loss are
presented within the section on operating activities as part of
changes in working capital in the cash flow statement.

s s BB IBRN B EE - R=F
ZENFARA=TH RETETENEG
BUERBEN D TEL2ERITRENR
BMETE © I5ERERTELGTE
BIIRNITBEE  RRSREBRNEL
EEBREBECEHHPINZT -
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19. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS 19. AIEHERE

Group and Company

TEBEREAAT
2008 2007
—EENF —ETLF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Available-for-sale investments, AHHERE -
at cost (Note) A (B 5E) 21,700 -

B © ZAEED B Clausin Group Limited
K Access Boom Group Limited#% &
5% N18% AR - REDHIA
3,700,000/ 7T & 18,000,000/ 7T ©

20. FE

Note: The Group invests in 5% and 18% equity interests in Clausin
Group Limited and Access Boom Group Limited with
consideration of HK$3,700,000 and HK$18,000,000
respectively.

20. INVENTORIES

Group
2008 2007
—EENF —ETLF
HK$°000 HK$’'000
FTExT FHET
Raw materials FE 6,301 6,003
Work in progress RS 5,407 4,673
Finished goods SUAK 11,226 13,036
22,934 23,712
Less: Provision for obsolete B BRE KRB H

and slow-moving finished RIPK @B
goods (6,536) (10,952)
16,398 12,760
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21. TRADE RECEIVABLES 21. EZEWERRX
The credit terms that the Group offers to customers are generally REBRTEFPHEES R TEBIE0
not more than 90 days. The ageing analysis of the Group’s trade A - AEENEZRUERNEERRN
receivables at the balance sheet date is as follows: RO -
Group
2008 2007
—EENF —EELF
HK$°000 HK$’'000
FERT FHET
Outstanding balances with ages: RIEBRER 8|9 H K EIE R
Within 30 days RB0HK 2,221 1,264
Between 31 to 60 days 31260H 663 704
Between 61 to 180 days 612180H 1,604 1,044
Over 180 days #180H 7,728 7,572
12,216 10,584
Less: Provision for impairment B R E R (7,874) (8,358)
4,342 2,226
22. CASH AND BANK BALANCES 22, AERWITER
Group Company
AEHE AATE
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EEN\F T LF —EEN\F —ETLF
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT FHERT FET
Cash at banks and RITRES R
in hand FHEIR® 10,216 11,322 26 20
Time deposits EHFR - 19,261 - -
Total cash and BE MRITHERF
bank balances 48 FE 10,216 30,583 26 20
Less: Pledged B RITE AR
bank deposit ERE I
for a bank |ITHER
loan facility (20) (20) - -
10,196 30,563 26 20
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22.

23.

CASH AND BANK BALANCES (continued)

As at the balance sheet date, the cash and bank balances of
the Group denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) amounted to
approximately HK$8,814,000 (2007: HK$30,202,000). The
RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies. However,
under the PRC Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business.

TRADE PAYABLES

The credit terms of trade payables varies according to the terms
agreed with different suppliers. The ageing analysis of the
Group’s trade payables as at the balance sheet date is as
follows:

22.

23.

HERBITERF®

REER  AEBUARE (ARE])
FHEMIR 2 RIRITH T #)3£8,814,000
BT (ZZEZE 4 : 30,202,000%7T) °
ARBTSEHRLRAEMER - R
B BRINEE SRS R AETE « SIE R
EEERE  AEEREESBEREE
ITHNEZEBHRITIEARB IR RHM

B2 EMRMK

B RNERNEEHR ARG ER
B HIRME - ARENE FENK
FREERHREDTNT -

Group

rEE
2008 2007
—EEN\F —ETLF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FERT FHET

Outstanding balances with ages: RIEBRER S0 MR EE R -

Within 30 days MR30BE A 2,862 3,677
Between 31 to 60 days 31E60H 456 741
Between 61 to 180 days 61£2180H 945 979
Over 180 days #180H 1,287 1,020
5,550 6,417
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a 4=
24. INTEREST-BEARING BANK LOANS 24, FtEBITER
Original 2008 2007
currency —EENF ZETLF
R HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
Bank loans, secured RITER - A HK$% 7T 3,265 2,612
Analysed into: DT -
Bank loans repayable AR TEHREERN
RITER
— within one year - —FR 3,265 1,842
— in the second year — B-F - 770
— in the third to fifth years, - FE=-FEERF
inclusive (BIEEEMST) - -
3,265 2,612
Less: Amounts due within B ETARBBEETH
one year included —F AR BRI FUIE
in current liabilities (3,265) (1,842)
Amounts due after one year FFASEREBIAEETH
included in non-current —F 1% BB R IR
liabilities - 770

The Group’s bank loan facility amounting to HK$5,000,000 REEMIRITEREEE £ % 45,000,000
(2007: HK$5,000,000), of which HK$3,265,000 (2007: BT (ZEZ 4 : 5,000,00087T)
HK$2,612,000) has been utilised as at the balance sheet date. REEER - £543,265,00087T (ZFZ
The facility is secured by the Group’s financial assets designated +F : 2,612,000/87T) EAEENAB o %5
at fair value through profit or loss amounting to HK$2,162,000 BT ARG IS RIE R T E A sk
(note 18) and a pledged bank deposit of HK$20,000 (note 22) B8 BR M B 75 & E2,162,0007% 7T (B
and supported by a corporate guarantee executed by the F18) RE AR TIF 5£20,00078 7T (M
Company (note 29). FE22) tEI IR - WA AR RIREN A A
R FF (M1EE29) -

REE A RITERY ABZEF EIRTT
BER - AEERITERNFEFER
55%E8.25% (ZEZEtF : 45%%
7.1%) & o

All bank loans of the Group are floating interest rate bank loans.
The interest rates of the Group’s bank loans ranged from 5.5%
t0 8.25% (2007: 4.5% to 7.1%) per annum.
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25. SHARE CAPITAL 25. A
2008 2007
—EENF —ETLF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Authorised: ETE ¢
20,000,000,000 ordinary 20,000,000,0000% & i%
shares of HK$0.025 each [ {850.025/8 7T &) & A 500,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: BRITRER
735,685,961 735,685,961 %
(2007: 698,543,104) —EEHF : 698,543,1040%)
ordinary shares of FRXE{EO.0257 T H) 3@ A%
HK$0.025 each 18,392 17,464
A summary of movements in the authorised and issued share RAREERBETRAEH P20
capital of the Company is as follows: N
Number of Nominal
authorised Number of value of
shares shares issued shares issued
EE 2817 2817
B EE BHEE &4 EE
HK$’000
FET
At 1 July 2007 R-ZEZ+F+H—H 20,000,000,000 698,543,104 17,464
Issue of BIIRERD
consideration (M5)
shares (note) - 37,142,857 928
At 30 June 2008 R-ZEENEXRA=TH 20,000,000,000 735,685,961 18,392
Note: B 5
On 4 August 2007, the Company has entered into a conditional sale AABER=ZEE+LFN\AMNAGIZ—EAB
and purchase agreement to acquire 18% of the issued share capital of & E E % » MMerdeka Holdings Limited
Access Boom Group Limited from Merdeka Holdings Limited. A total I 88 Access Boom Group Limitedf)18%E,
consideration of HK$18 million for the acquisition was satisfied by (i) BITIRAR o W R E 45,8008 B
HK$5 million in cash and (i) issuing 37,142,857 ordinary shares at an 177 R B() 8 £ 2500878 7T K i) g2 T HR(B
issue price of HK$0.35 per share for the rest of the consideration in HEH1,300&8 B T Tyim B EITESNRR0.35
sum of HK$13 million. For further details, please refer to the Company’s BT 1737,142,857A T @Ak AT -
circular dated on 27 August 2007. BT EEL2HARABHASTLF

NAZ+EEMEE -
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In connection with the listing of the Company’s shares on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, the Company conditionally
adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) pursuant to an
ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders of the Company
on 23 January 2003. The Scheme became effective on 10
February 2003 upon the listing of the Company’s shares on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange by way of introduction and,
unless otherwise cancelled or amended, the Scheme remains
in force for ten years from that date.

The purpose of the Scheme is to provide incentives or rewards
to participants for their contribution to the Group or any entity
in which the Group has an equity interest (the “Invested Entity”)
and/or to enable the Group or an Invested Entity to recruit and
retain high-calibre employees and attract human resources that
are valuable to the Group or an Invested Entity.

The participants of the Scheme include: (a) any employee
(whether full time or part time employee, including any executive
director but not any non-executive director) of the Company,
any of its subsidiaries or any Invested Entity; (b) any non-
executive director (including any independent non-executive
director) of the Company, any of its subsidiaries or any Invested
Entity; (c) any supplier of goods or services to any member of
the Group or any Invested Entity; (d) any customer of the Group
or any Invested Entity; (e) any person or entity that provides
research, development or other technological support to the
Group or any Invested Entity; and (f) any shareholder of any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity or any holder of
any securities issued by any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or any of their
associates, are subject to approval in advance by independent
non-executive directors of the Company. In addition, any share
options granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent
non-executive director of the Company, or any of their
associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any time and with an aggregate value (based on the
closing price of the Company’s shares at the date of the grant)
in excess of HK$5 million, in any twelve-month period up to the
date of grant, are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance
in a general meeting.

AARBRMDRBERZ AR LT - AR
AREBE-EAARBRRR _ZZT=F
—AZT=RABNEBRRRR  BF
TR —IRRE AR & (TRT81)) - 5T &
B BAR B AN 4877 SR AP =
METER -_ZZE=F_ATHEE
M Bt 8 (R & IERIIN HE
HEFTFRA—BEAR -

IR ERAEAEEIAKERFERA
RanEIAER(REER]) BRER
M2 mRERMRESEE - &R ER
SESREERALNBEMMERE
ZRE  URRSIEBEAT MALREE

RIREEE -

SR EE R (ARR - AEA
MBARSEMREERNEMESR
(TR RBIESR - BREEMANT
B HIBEETMENTES) ¢ (b)
Apm] - REAHERRSREAREE
BHOEMFFNTES (BREEMBLIE
WITES) « OAEEERKERAR
ERREERMNEM S mal RB &
B (ARESEMNREEENERNE
P (@RAREES IR E BB R
7 FESEMBA RN EMA LR
'8 ROAEBEEMNKE R RSHAEM
BREBBHEMBRR - A KEIAINK
B RBREMREBERABITEMES
BEMFAEA °

MARBESE - THREAH AT ZREL
HEFAHEA TR TROBRERER
NRBIERITESTERHBE o JLoN -
BRYARRETEWMRABULIENTES
S F S BB A TNTMEERE -
FRE AN A B RN R R A B B 1T AR (D
0.1% » BRBEARRRMNARELEH
MR ETEMSRE  REEREE
A E{a121E A BifE AiEB 85008 B 7T
AR R RS LERFTSHRIE -

REEWERER QA
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The total number of shares of the Company in respect of which
options may be granted under the Scheme must not exceed
69,854,310 shares, being 10% of the total number of shares of
the Company in issue on the date when the 10% Scheme limit
has been refreshed. The 10% Scheme limit was refreshed at
the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on
10 December 2007. The total number of shares in respect of
which options are issuable under the Scheme was 73,568,596,
representing approximately 10.0% of the issued share capital
of the Company at 30 June 2008.

The total number of shares of the Company issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted and to be granted
to each participant (including exercised and outstanding options)
in any twelve-month period up to the date of grant shall not
exceed 1% of the total number of shares of the Company in
issue as at the date of grant (the “Individual Limit”). Any further
grant of options in excess of the Individual Limit must be subject
to shareholders’ approval in general meeting with such
participant and his or her associates abstaining from voting.

An option may be exercised at any time during a period as the
board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) may determine
which shall not be more than ten years from the date of grant
of the option.

Save as determined by the Board, there is no minimum period
for which an option must be held before it can be exercised.

The acceptance of an offer of the grant of an option must be
made within 28 days from the date upon which such offer is
made with a non-refundable payment of HK$1.00 from the
grantee to the Company by way of consideration for the grant
thereof.

The subscription price of a share of the Company in respect of
any option shall be such price as the Board in its absolute
discretion shall determine, save that such price will not be lower
than the highest of: (a) the closing price of the shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of
grant of the option, which must be a trading day; (b) the average
closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheets for the five trading days immediately
preceding the date of grant of the option; and (c) the nominal
value of the share.

Vitop Bioenergy Holdings Limited

BB BRI R H A R IR M T LABE AT
WARNTRMHOBE  TEBEA
69,854,3100% * BIAA10% 5T IR EEE 37
EHAARRBEEHITRMBEMNI0% o
10%:TEIRBERARRAR TS LF
TZATHRTHRREIRAG LE
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= A
26. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 26. BRETE @
Subject to earlier termination of the Company by resolution in HE2-_ZT—=—F_AhBAL 8§
general meeting, the Scheme shall be valid and effective till 9 —EHEAR  WARBRERERE IR
February 2013. After the expiry of such valid period, no further ERBEREFRIEE - 5181898
options will be offered but in all other respects the provisions of [Emg - ST SRER DT AERE
the Scheme shall remain in full force and effect. T EIMERR ARG TR —BEA
BTR®A -
Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends B AR AL MR A T A AR B S AR
or to vote at shareholders’ meetings. RAG LEREREF -
Particulars of the share options granted and remained HE_ZZN\FAA=TAHILEFE &
outstanding under the Scheme during the year ended 30 June BT EIRH R ARITEAERESEN
2008 were as follows: ™
Number of share options
BREHE
Granted Reclassification Lapsed Exercised
Name or category At during during during during At Date of Exercise Exercise
of participant 1 July 2007 the year the year the year the year 30 June 2008 grant* period price**
REBBLE R-BEN\E
SREHZRER tA-8 FRERE FREFLE FREAN FRETE ~A=TH i A figid fTEE"
HK$
AT
Directors:
5
Hung Kai So - 558000 (5584,000) - - - 10AUg 2007 10 Aug 2007 to 0.260
(resigned as a director 3 3 9 Aug 2009
of the Company on NA+H ZE5+F
25 Feb 2008) MNA+E
s £ E-TENE
(W-FEENE-A-1EA NANR
REXRAEE)
Han Xiaoyue - 5584000 - - - 5584000 10AUg 2007 10 Aug 2007 to 0.260
#HE “ETtE 9 Aug 2009
NATH “E5+F
NATEE
“EENEF
NANR
Chen Henglong - 5,584,000 - - - 5,584,000 10 Aug 2007 10 Aug 2007 to 0.260
REE 3Rt 9 Aug 2009
NAtR ZE5tE
NATRE
—ZENE
NALB
- 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 28Feb2008 28 Feb 2008 o 0217
k< 1= 27 Feb 2010
—“A-t)\H —E2RNE
ZAZtNRZE
b 22
ZA=ttH
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26. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 26. BRETE @
Number of share options
BREZA
Granted Reclassification Lapsed Exercised
Name or category At during during during during At Date of Exercise Exercise
of participant 1 July 2007 the year the year the year the year 30 June 2008 grant* period price**
RZBBLE RZZENF
SREBZLER tA-H ERERE EREFIE FRBEEM ERETE RA=tH BRA RS T8 fTEE"
HKS
BT
Directors: (continued)
Bz (B)
Zhang He - 5.584,000 - - - 5,584,000 10 Aug 2007 10 Aug 2007 to 0.260
il k& 9 Aug 2009
NATR ZEZRLE
NATHE
—ZTNE
NANA
1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 28 Feb 2008 28 Feb 2008 to 0.217
“EINE 27 Feb 2010
—“A-t)\H —ZENE
ZR=tN\BZ
i 22
ZRZttH
Liu Jun - 2,792,000 (2,792,000) - - - 10 Aug 2007 10 Aug 2007 to 0.260
(resigned as a director of the ZERtE 9 Aug 2009
Company on 28 Apr 2008) NA+H S
LS NATEZ
(RZZE\FMA=FNA ZZENE
BREARAES) NANE
- 500,000 (500,000 - - - 28 Feb 2008 28 Feb 2008 to 0.217
—ZENE 27 Feb 2010
—AZtNH TR\
—RZtNhBZE
S 32
ZAZ++H
Chan Yuk Tong 10,000,000 - - (2,250,000) - 7,750,000 5 Dec 2006 5 Dec 2006 to 0.100
BFEZ ZETRE 4 Dec 2011
+-AEA ZZERE
+ZARHE
—E——F
+-AmE
Ying Yoke Nean 14,000,000 - - (14,000,000) - - 5 Dec 2006 5 Dec 2006 to 0.100
ERE ZITRE 4 Dec 2011
+-AEA ZETRE
+-ARRZE
—2—-F
TZAmA
Chan Chiu Hung, Alex - 500,000 - (500,000) - - 10 Aug 2007 10 Aug 2007 to 0.260
(resigned as a director of ZEREE 9 Aug 2009
the Company on NA+A e s
28 Feb 2008) NA+RE
BRél “ETNE
(R=FENF-A=tNA NANE
BREARAES)
24,000,000 28,128,000 (8,876,000) (16,750,000) - 26,502,000
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26. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 26. lEIRETE @
Number of share options
BREZA
Granted Reclassification Lapsed Exercised
Name or category At during during during during At Date of Exercise Exercise
of participant 1 July 2007 the year the year the year the year 30 June 2008 grant* period price**
RZBBLE RZZENF
SREMZHREN tA-8 ERERE EREFIE FRBAX FREHE ~AZtH R BH* g TRE"
HKS
BT
Other employee:
EfER
In aggregate 15,901,364 - - (15,901,364) - - 14 Oct 2004 14 Oct 2004 to 0.371
@it “EERE 13 Oct 2007
+A+mA —ZEME
TATEER
ZEZRLE
TA+T=AH
In aggregate 20,000,000 - - (20,000,000 - - 5 Dec 2006 5 Dec 2006 to 0.100
@t “EERE 4 Dec 2011
+-ARA ZETRE
+-ARRE
2—-F
+ZAmA
In aggregate - 28,967,000 8,376,000 - - 37,343,000 10 Aug 2007 10 Aug 2007 to 0.260
@it ZEEtE 9 Aug 2009
NATR ZZRLE
NATHE
—ZTNE
NANA
In aggregate - 18,000,000 500,000 - - 18,500,000 28 Feb 2008 28 Feb 2008 to 0.217
@t “ZT)F 27 Feb 2010
ZA=t/R —RENE
—RZTNBRZE
“2-BE
ZAZ++H
In aggregate - 4,000,000 - - - 4,000,000 3 Apr 2008 3 Apr 2008 to 0.255
&zt —RENE 2 Apr 2010
MA=R ZZENE
MA=RZE
—2-%f
mAZH
35,901,364 50,967,000 8,876,000 (35,901,364) - 59,843,000
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26. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 26. lEIRETE =
Number of share options
BREZA
Granted Reclassification Lapsed Exercised
Name or category At during during during during At Date of Exercise Exercise
of participant 1 July 2007 the year the year the year the year 30 June 2008 grant* period price**
RZBBLE RZZENF
SREMZHREN tA-8 ERERE EREFIE FRBEEM FREHE ~AZtH R BH* g TRE"
HKS
BT
Suppliers:
HER
In aggregate 9,000,000 - - (9,000,000) - - 14 Oct 2004 14 Oct 2004 to 0.371
@it “EERE 13 Oct 2007
+A+mA —ZEME
TATEER
ZEZRLE
TA+T=AH
In aggregate 6,000,000 - - - - 6,000,000 28 Oct 2004 28 Oct 2004 to 0.355
@it CEINE 27 Oct 2009
+A=t+/\H ZTERE
+R=+\BZ
ZZTNE
+A=-t++H
15,000,000 - - (9,000,000) - 6,000,000
Customers:
Zp:
In aggregate 4,250,000 - - (4,250,000) - - 14 Oct 2004 14 Oct 2004 to 0.371
@ “ZTEE 13 Oct 2007
TA+TER “ETNE
TATHmAZR
ZETtE
TA+=8
4,250,000 - - (4,250,000)
79,151,364 79,095,000 - (65,901,364) - 92,345,000
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26. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 26. BRETE @
Particulars of the share options granted and remained HE_ZT+FNAZ+THIEFE R
outstanding under the Scheme during the year ended 30 June BETEIRE R AR TE R ERE BN
2007 were as follows: ™
Number of share options
BREHE
Granted Reclassification Lapsed Exercised
Name or category At during during during during At Date of Exercise Exercise
of participant 1 July 2006 the year the year the year the year 30 June 2007 grant* period price**
RZBERE R-28t%
SREMZHER tA-A FRERYE FRENIE FREAX EREFE ;= ! BEAH s g™
HK$
B
Directors:
Ef:
Ma Yufeng (resigned 4,151,700 - - (4,151,700) - - 4 Nov 2003 4 Nov 2008 to 0.300
as a director of the Z3%=F 4 Nov 2006
Company on 5 Dec 2006) +-AEA —EECE
BRABM-FE/F T-AmAZ
+-ARBERE —EZERE
ARAES) +—AmA
Liu Jun (resigned 4,151,700 - - (4,151,700) - - 4 Nov 2003 4Nov 2003 to 0.300
as a director of the “E%=F 4 Nov 2006
Company on 28 Apr 2008) +-AEB ZTE=F
Ak (M=22N\% +-AmEZE
MAZTNARE ZTERE
RRAEE) +-AmA
Chan Yuk Tong - 10,000,000 - - - 10,000,000 5 Dec 2006 5 Dec 2006 to 0.100
FEZR g Y3 4 Dec 2011
+-AEA —EIAE
+-ARRZE
—2——F
+=ZAmA
Ying Yoke Nean - 14,000,000 - - - 14,000,000 5 Dec 2006 5 Dec 2006 to 0.100
BRE ZZTRE 4 Dec 2011
+-ARR ZZERE
+-ARRE
E-%
+-AmAE
8,303,400 24,000,000 - (8,308,400) - 24,000,000
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26. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 26. BRETE @
Particulars of the share options granted and remained HEZZTZLFAA=-THIEFE B
outstanding under the Scheme during the year ended 30 June BB R AR TR ERES BN
2007 were as follows: ™
Number of share options
BREHE
Granted Reclassification Lapsed Exercised
Name or category At during during during during At Date of Exercise Exercise
of participant 1 July 2006 the year the year the year the year 30 June 2007 grant* period price**
RZBERE R-28t%
SREMZHER tA-A FRERE FREHIE FREAX EREFE ;= ! Bt BH s g™
HK$
B
Other employee:
EfifER
In aggregate 6,421,700 - - (6,421,700) - - 4 Nov 2003 4 Nov 2003 to 0.300
@it Z3%=F 4 Nov 2006
+-AEA k& g2
T-AmAZ
—EZERE
T-AEA
In aggregate 2,100,000 - - (2,100,000) - - 1 Jun 2004 1 Jun 2004 to 0.425
@ “ITmE 31 May 2007
~A-H “ZEME
AA-HE
ZTTtE
RA=1+-A
In aggregate 18,101,364 - - (2,200,000 - 15,901,364 14 Oct 2004 14 Oct 2004 to 0.371
@:t “EERE 13 Oct 2007
+A+mA ZEENE
TATmAZ
ZEZRLE
TA+=H
In aggregate 5,000,000 - - (5,000,000) - - 5 Jan 2004 5 Jan 2004 to 0.495
@ —ITmE 4 Jan 2009
—AER —ZEME
—ALRZE
—ZENE
—AmB
In aggregate - 20,000,000 - - - 20,000,000 5 Dec 2006 5 Dec 2006 to 0.100
@:t “EERE 4 Dec 2011
+-AEA —EIAE
+-ARRZE
“EF
TZAmA
31,623,064 20,000,000 - (15,721,700) - 35,901,364

98 Vitop Bioenergy Holdings Limited Annual Report 2008



T

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 3% S AR M B

For the year ended 30 June 2008
HEZTT N \FRNA=+HLEFE

.
26. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 26. BRETE @
Number of share options
BREHE
Granted Reclassification Lapsed Exercised
Name or category At during during during during At Date of Exercise Exercise
of participant 1 July 2006 the year the year the year the year 30 June 2007 grant* period price**
RIBBRE RZBEBLE
SREBZLER tA-H FRERE FRENIE FRBEEM ERETE RA=tH BRA RS T8 fTEE"
HK$
B
Suppliers:
HIER -
In aggregate 9,000,000 - - - - 9,000,000 14 Oct 2004 14 Oct 2004 to 0.371
@z “EERE 13 Oct 2007
+A+mA —ZEME
TATmAZ
ZEZRLE
TA+T=AH
In aggregate 6,000,000 - - - - 6,000,000 28 Oct 2004 28 Oct 2004 to 0.355
@it 3 uik:3 27 Oct 2009
+A=t+/\H ZTERE
+R=+\BZ
“ERNE
+A=-t++H
15,000,000 - - - - 15,000,000
Customers:
BF:
In aggregate 70,000 - - (70,000) - - 4 Nov 2003 4 Nov 2008 to 0.300
@ “ZTCF 4 Nov 2006
+—AmA i
+-AmRE
ZTERE
+-AmAB
In aggregate 4,250,000 - - (4,250,000) - - 14 Oct 2004 14 Oct 2004 to 0.371
@t “EERE 13 Oct 2007
TA+EA —EENE
TATmAZ
ZERLE
+A+=AR
4,320,000 - - (70,000) - 4,250,000
59,246,464 44,000,000 - (24,095,100) - 79,151,364
*  The vesting period of the share options is from the date of the * ERENEEHARE AR ERT
grant until the commencement of the exercise period. FHARLA ©
** The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in o RS EITARSE AR AR TR E
the case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the R UEBNIERT - BRENITEE
Company'’s share capital. REAE -

REEYEREBAR — ==\ 555 99



T

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 755 kB

For the year ended 30 June 2008
HE_ZZTN\FRA=+THLEFE

26. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 26. BERETE @

The share options granted on 28 October 2004 shall be vested
and exercisable as to 2,000,000 share options on execution of
the marketing service agreement dated 28 October 2004 and
entered into between the Company and the grantee, and as to
4,000,000 share options on completion of the marketing
services provided by the grantee.

The share options granted on 5 December 2006 to Mr. Chan
Yuk Tong shall be exercisable as to 2,250,000, 3,500,000 and
4,250,000 share options upon the conditions that the audited
financial results of the Group for the years ending 30 June 2007,
2008 and 2009 are not less than HK$0, HK$10,000,000 and
HK$20,000,000 respectively, from the date of the publication
of the audited financial results of respective year up to the date
falling five years from the date of grant. The share options shall
lapse automatically if the above conditions are not met.

The share options granted on 5 December 2006 to Mr. Ying
Yoke Nean shall be exercisable as to 3,150,000, 4,900,000
and 5,950,000 share options upon the conditions that the
audited financial results of the Group for the years ending
30 June 2007, 2008 and 2009 are not less than HK$O0,
HK$10,000,000 and HK$20,000,000 respectively, from the date
of the publication of the audited financial results of respective
year up to the date falling five years from the date of grant. The
share options shall lapse automatically if the above conditions
are not met.

The share options granted on 5 December 2006 to an employee
shall be exercisable as to 4,500,000, 7,000,000 and 8,500,000
share options upon the conditions that the audited financial
results of the Group for the years ending 30 June 2007, 2008
and 2009 are not less than HK$0, HK$10,000,000 and
HK$20,000,000 respectively, from the date of the publication
of the audited financial results of respective year up to the date
falling five years from the date of grant. The share options shall
lapse automatically if the above conditions are not met.
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26. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 26. BEBREFTE @

The share options granted on 10 August 2007 shall be vested
and exercisable upon the date of grant.

The share options granted on 28 February 2008 shall be vested
and exercisable upon the date of grant.

The share options granted on 3 April 2008 shall be vested and
exercisable upon the date of grant.

All share-based employee compensation will be settled in equity.
The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to repurchase
or settle the options.

Share options and weighted average exercise price are as
follows for the reporting periods presented:

RZZZLFN\ATBRENERE
AIRE L A B R E R ITE -

RZZBZENF AT N\BEEER
B AR R B AT -

RZZZN\FHA=Z AR ERE -
ARFEEARERERITE -

P PARS A7 ST A O 18 B 57 MG DA R AR (8
o REES BRRHIETRER DK
BT R HE -

A S B 2 e BB AR HE S i 1917
EEWT :

2008 2007
—EENF e
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise exercise
Number price Number price
hnE ¥ 15 TS
#E TEE 28 TEE
Outstanding at wnEHA—H
1 July i AT 79,151,364 0.219 59,246,464 0.364
Granted BRI 79,095,000 0.255 44,000,000 0.1
Lapsed RN (65,901,364) 0.221 (24,095,100) 0.358
Outstanding at RAA=+H
30 June CENANES 92,345,000 0.246 79,151,364 0.219

For share options outstanding at the end of the year, the

AR 1A AR TT (R BB A O DD 1 R ik

ANEHAE1.4T (2B HE  2.75)F
(AR A B o

weighted average remaining contractual life is 1.47 (2007: 2.75)
years from the date of this annual report.
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27. RESERVES 27. ##E

GROUP

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 41 of the
financial statements.

The share premium account of the Group mainly includes:
(i) shares issued at a premium; and (i) the difference between
the nominal value of the share capital of the subsidiaries
acquired pursuant to the reorganisation scheme (the “Group
Reorganisation”) in preparation for the public listing of the
Company’s shares on the GEM of the Stock Exchange over
the nominal value of the share capital of the Company issued
in exchange therefore.

The Group’s capital reserve represented the amount of retained
earnings of Vitop China applied for the increase in its registered
and paid-up capital.

In accordance with the relevant PRC regulations applicable to
WOFE, Vitop China, being the wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, is required to transfer 10% of their profit after tax, if
any, to the statutory reserve until the balance of the fund reach
50% of their respective registered capital. Subject to certain
restrictions as set out in the relevant PRC regulations, the
statutory reserve may be used to offset against their respective
accumulated losses.
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27. RESERVES (continued) 27. f#fE e
COMPANY PN
Capital
Share redemption Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
=N
3R E R E fFE ZitE#E st
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET FHET FHET
At 1 July 2006 RZZTREF
+H—H 52,082 29 (16,536) 35,575
Net loss for the year— A& 518/ F 58 —
Total recognised KEED
income and THERUA
expenses for X 1858
the year - - (9,090) (9,090)

At 30 June 2007 and WZZTZ+F

1 July 2007 ANA=Z1THEK
T+ F
+A—H 52,082 29 (25,6206) 26,485
Issue of share capital 77K 12,072 - - 12,072
Net loss for the year— N4 [E B85 50 —
Total recognised REER
income and HERULA K
expenses for F s 485
the year - - (7,464) (7,464)
At 30 June 2008 R-EBEENF
~A=t+H 64,154 29 (33,090) 31,093
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HE—

27.

28.

ZENFERA=ZTHIEFE

RESERVES (continued)
COMPANY (continued)

The share premium account of the Company mainly includes:
(i) shares issued at a premium; and (i) the difference between
the nominal value of the share capital of the Company issued
in exchange for the issued share capital of the subsidiaries and
the value of the underlying net assets of the subsidiaries
acquired pursuant to the Group Reorganisation. Under the
Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands, the share premium account is
distributable to the shareholders of the Company provided that
immediately following the date on which the dividend is
proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position
to pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.

COMMITMENTS
(A) OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENT

The Group leases certain of its offices, factory and
machinery and equipment under non-cancellable
operating lease arrangements with lease terms ranging
from one to five years. As at 30 June 2008, the total
future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable

27.

28.

&
FiNNCTRC )

AREaBREZERRE  (AnE
BITHD - RBRBEEEEAE - AW
TERIB B AR B HITIRAN AR B
AEEEMEENBARAEEEFE
MERE - REBEMASHERRIEAFR2E
(—NAR—FF=X0 - B Mg
) REGERBESRERSN A S
% ARRHBRNEEEREELS
RN ES - RS ERISA
DIRFARRRRIR °

A YE

(A) KEHEERE

AEBRETIHHECERES
HHELETETIE - THRRH
BREE FHNTEEF -
R-TENEXAZTE - 0
S B AR R T (R RIS AR

operating leases are payable as follows: DEENAT
Group
rER
2008 2007
—EEN\F 2T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Within one year —FR 1,112 2,408
In the second to fifth years & & FH R F - 1,011
1,112 3,419

The Company did not have any significant operating
lease arrangements as at the balance sheet date (2007:
Nil).
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28. COMMITMENTS (continued)

28. &IE @)

(B) OTHER COMMITMENT (B) HthaiE
Group
rEE
2008 2007
—EENF 2T
HK$°000 HK$’000
FTExT T
Commitments in respect of: B/ 518 B H&HE -
— property, plant and — BRI B R BED
equipment contracted, W - BB R
but not provided for - 1,751
— others —HAth - -
- 1,751

The Company did not have any significant other
commitments as at the balance sheet date (2007: Nil).

29. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(@)

The Company has executed a corporate guarantee
amounting to HK$5,000,000 (2007: HK$5,000,000) with
respect to a bank loan to one of its subsidiaries (note
24). Under the guarantee, the Company would be liable
to pay the bank if the bank is unable to recover the loan.
At the balance sheet date, no provision for the
Company'’s obligation under the guarantee has been
made as the directors considered that it was not
probable that the repayment of the loan would be in
default.

In November 2006, a lawsuit alleging breach of products
purchase agreement was brought by a supplier against
a subsidiary of the Company. The supplier was claiming
a damage amounting to approximately RMB14,200,000
(equivalent to HK$14,600,000). The subsidiary then filed
an answer denying the allegation and counterclaim. On
18 December 2007, the intermediate People’s Court of
the PRC in Zhuhai, Guangdong Province, delivered the
judgement which is favourable to the subsidiary. The
plaintiff appealed to the Court after the judgement. After
taking into account of legal advices from solicitors, the
directors consider that the subsidiary has a good
defence against such claim and no provision have
therefore been made in the financial statements.

ESS
29. HAREE

(@)
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29. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continued)

29, HARAEBE @

Save as disclosed above, neither the Group nor the Company Br Pt EEEIN  NEEH  AEES
had any significant contingent liabilities at the balance sheet RARIWEERERKAEE -
date.
30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 30. BEALRS
Save as disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, the BRI TSR E M D TR E SN -
Group had the following material transactions with certain SEEETHEALETTIERR
related parties: 2
(a) (@)
2008 2007
—EENE —ETLF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt &E FHExT FHET
Rental expenses to HFUATALH
HeFx
— a minority equity — N2 R B
holder of a subsidiary NElZPH
of the Company BmEB A (i) 564 504
— a related company —BE QA (ii) - 368
Purchase of goods from B ANE B H[F
the joint venture partner ~ EHIEEMNE &
of the jointly controlled EBHRE
entity of the Group Em (i) - 3,692
Purchases from a B 3 E4E
jointly-controlled entity HERERE (i) - 3,233

Notes :

(i)

The Group’s transactions with a minority equity holder
of a subsidiary of the Company, the Group’s jointly-
controlled entity and the joint venture partner of the

REBEEARBME QTN
DEHERTAAN  AEEHK
[l #22 1 B BE e AN S B K Rl

Group’s jointly-controlled entity were made in FIEBNEECERENR
accordance with the mutually agreed terms. S TRRE T7 10 E B RFE

17
(ii) The rental expenses were incurred to China Excel (ii) FEEMNHESHAI XN T
Professional Advisors Limited, in which Mr. Chan Yuk EREREZRNBERDAE - K
Tong, an executive director of the Company, is director RANITEEREREER

and equity holder. The lease period was from 1 January
2006 to 17 May 2007 with monthly rent of HK$25,000.
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30.

31.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continues) 30, BEA TR H @)
(o)  Compensation of key management personnel of the ) AEEFZEBEASHEHHN:
Group:
2008 2007
—EENE —ZEELF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
Total remuneration of FAESKHEMEE
directors and other B ABWNF MG
members of key
management during
the year
- Short term —REHEEREF
employee benefits 5,792 6,873
— Pension scheme —RIREFT IR
contribution 66 85
5,858 6,958
CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 31. EXEREE

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and
to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of
capital.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt and equity
attributable to equity holders of the Company, comprising issued
share capital, reserves and retained profits.

GEARING RATIO

The directors review the capital structure regularly. As part of
this review, the directors consider the cost of capital and the
risks associated with each class of capital. During the year
ended 30 June 2008, the Group’s strategy, which was
unchanged from previous years, was to reduce the gearing ratio.
The ratio is calculated based on total debt and shareholders
equity.

AEBEREARAZ BRERBEREHE
W REMESRA AT RS KR
REEARBAREERKRK -

AEBE 2 EARBBEER AR AE
wmEE ARG EPEEEBTR
K ERRRE RN -

EXREBREER

EXETHEMEANRE - (FRAEHMN
—E EEGEREARRANAESR
BEXNERENER - REE-FTT/\FX
A=TBLEFE  AEERE (26
EFEYEZL) RREELRAABRAL
o ERBELXRTIABAERIABRR

N Ay

MEIETE o

REEYERERAR —== 555 107
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31. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 31. EXRERERE @
GEARING RATIO (continued) EXEEBEER®
The gearing ratio at the year end was as follows: REFERNERBBLENAT :
2008 2007
—EENF —EELF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
Total debt waE 3,265 2,612
Shareholders’ equity % 5 A 2 55,711 42,035
Gearing ratio BEAREELE 5.86% 6.21%
32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 32. %@IE-\
(A) CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL (A E€@mITEE7
INSTRUMENTS
Group
REH
2008 2007
—EEN\E —EELF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAET
Financial assets BREE
Loans and receivables B EW R
(including cash and bank  (B2#E#H & &
balances) RITHET) 51,255 60,263
Non-current investments  JEREIRE 23,882 2,376
75,137 62,639

Financial liabilities BEaE
At amortised costs b RicIDWN 17,251 22,720
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(B)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are market risk (including interest rate risk,
foreign exchange risk and other price risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk. The management reviews and agrees
policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below.

Market risk

The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial
risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates,
interest rates and equity prices.

Market risk exposures are measured by sensitivity
analysis. There has been no change to the Group’s
exposure to market risks or the manner in which it
manages and measures the risk.

Interest rate risk management

Except as disclosed below, the Group’s income and
operating cash flows are substantially independent of
changes in market interest rates.

The Group’s interest-rate risk mainly arises from bank
balances and borrowings. The Group regularly seeks out
the most favourable interest rates available for its bank
balances and borrowings. Bank balances and
borrowings issued at variable rates expose the Group
to cash flow interest rate risk. Information relating to the
interest rates and terms of the Group’s and borrowings
are disclosed in Note 24. As at 30 June 2008, if the
market interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/
lower with all other variables held constant, post-tax
profit for the year would have been HK$16,000 (2007:
HK$13,000) lower/higher, mainly as a result of higher/
lower interest income on bank balances and cash net
off with higher/lower interest expense on floating rate
borrowings.

The Group has not entered into any interest rate swaps
to hedge its exposure to interest rate risks.

32,

£RMTHe

(B)

TREREEERER
BUR

AEESRTANTZREMR
HER (BN ERERE - SMER
g M EMERRR) - EERR
LaBERR - ERERNL
AEEREEZERBABER
ZEBRE AT o

R AT

™35 Bk
7 B 40 B+ B N B

T MR EEREEEL
K& R o

TISRABABREDITETE - &
SEPTAZ TS E R kA R E
ERNFTERRN T AL EN

| 2R 7] e = 7
=7 2 B

BT XFAREES  NEBEKWK
AR ER B MEBA BN TIB
MR TGN REE) o

AREENF AR T ZRRITE
FREREE - AEBETHRE
RITETF LERSKHEENT
Ko AR RIELORITERT
LR AEEHEAXBERE
MEER - BEAREEEF XKL
1%?’7\ AR BRI E M 244

cRZETNFRA=1H "
1hfﬁiﬁf' IR 5018 &
B MATAH MBS TE
AR FEEBRBIERFIER D, 1
16,0008 T (Z T T L F -
13,0008 7T) + F ZHNIRITE
FRB 22 FBWALL I, B

XOFEH R FREOF B F G AN
SRS o

REE W BT LA RiE %

BRSO E M R AR o

REEYEREBRAR —ZT)\F5H

109



T

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS RR M

For the year ended 30 June 2008
HEZTT N \FRNA=+HLEFE

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(B)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Market risk (continued)
Foreign exchange risk management

Several subsidiaries of the Group have foreign currency
sales and purchases, which expose the Group to foreign
currency risk. The Group’s sales and purchases are
denominated primarily in Renminbi, which expose the
Group to foreign currency risk. The Group does not have
any formal hedging policy.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities
at the reporting date are as follows:

3. €I Ew

(B)

tHmEREEEER
BUR #)

miZE M @)
Y B R i B EE

REE BB R BB LASNEE
TMEE  SAKEAZINER
B AEENEEIZUARE
FHE - MeAEEAZINER
B o ANEE BT —AREP IR
o o

REBRIRE BEIAINERTHER
EMEEMEYaENERRER
™

2008 2007
—EENE —EEAF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Assets BE
RMB AR 9,823 32,428
Liabilities afE
RMB AREE 19,371 23,245
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(B)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Market risk (continued)
Foreign exchange risk management (continued)
Sensitivity analysis on foreign currency risk management

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a
5% increase and decrease in the Hong Kong dollars
against the relevant foreign currencies. 5% is the
sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk
internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes outstanding foreign currency denominated
monetary items, and adjusts their translation at the
period end for a 5% change in foreign currency rates.
The sensitivity analysis includes external loans as well
as loans to foreign operations within the Group where
the denomination of the loan is in a currency other than
the currency of the lender or the borrower. A negative
number below indicates a decrease in profit where the
Hong Kong dollars strengthen 5% against the relevant
currency. For a 5% weakening of the Hong Kong dollars
against the relevant currency, there would be an equal
and opposite impact on the profit and the balances
below would be positive.

32,

TETE®

(B)

tHREREEHER
BUR (#)

SN LB B IR Y BURIE D AT
TRFHIARKE BB T KRR
BAHBERZES%HEEE - B
AR EREIEABREINER
BREMRANBREL RS
5% HAEERENEAEEE
HIRWERES - FRESTE
ERARRENIINETHERE A

Y EHFEERARNRE
PER FEHS%MAE - GURE
DI BIEIMNEER R AEEA
BINEBPIEMER - MEBE
RARABEITTHEATT AN
BEHEHE - TXP M A BB
A TT L AE B E HE THE5 % 7
HYRL D BURR - HE T AR
f2{E5% @ wm M & HRART
RMSRER - M N0 ER
RIEH -

2008 2007
—EENF —TTLF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Impact of RMB ARBHEE
Profit and loss* A R e 477 (459)

# This is mainly attributable to the exposure outstanding
on receivables and payables denominated in RMB.

REEYERER R

# TE2RBUARKIHED N
RURER A IR B R s AR R
FERS R PTE R R -
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(B)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Market risk (continued)
Other price risks

The Group is exposed to price risks through its holding
of non-current investments.

Other price sensitivity

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to price risks at the reporting
date. If the market price of the non-current investments
has been 10% higher/lower while all other variables were
held constant, the profit for the year ended 30 June 2008
would increase/decrease by approximately
HK$2,388,000 (2007: HK$238,000) for the Group. This
is mainly due to changes in fair value of non-current
investments.

Credit risk

As at 30 June 2008, the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group
due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of the
respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated balance sheet.

The Group has put in place policies to ensure that sales
of products are made to customers with an appropriate
credit history and the Group performs period credit
evaluations of its customers. In addition, the Group
reviews the recoverable amount of each individual trade
debt and debt investments at each balance sheet date
to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made
for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors
of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(B)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

Other than concentration of credit risk on liquid funds
which are deposited with several banks with high credit
ratings, the Group does not have any other significant
concentration of credit risk.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to meet
its current obligations when they fall due.

The Group measures and monitors its liquidity through
the maintenance of prudent ratio regarding to the liquidity
structure of the overall assets, liabilities loans and
commitments as the Group. The Group also monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents
deemed adequate by the management to finance the
Group’s operation and mitigate the effects of fluctuations
in cash flows. In addition, standby credit facilities are
established to provide contingent liquidity surrport.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. The table
has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash
flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on
which the Group can be required to pay. The table
includes both interest and principal cash flows.

TET

(B)

REEYERERAR —== 555 113
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(B) FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3. €I Ew

B) EREMEEBER

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) BUR ()
The Group rE
Weighted Total
average undiscounted
effective Within 2to cash Carrying
interest rate 1 year 5 year flows value
mEFY AR
BRF= —FR “ERF RERELE HREE
% HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
% FHET FHET FHET FET
At 30 June 2008 R-ZZENFEXA=1H
Non-interest bearing FEtE - 13,986 - 13,986 13,986
Variable interest raise
instruments ENERETR 5.5 785 2,500 3,285 3,265
14,771 2,500 17,271 17,251
Weighted Total
average undiscounted
effective Within 2to cash Carrying
interest rate 1 year 5 year flows value
METH REGH
ERFI% —FR “ETF BeREnE FEE
% HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% TET THIT TET TET
At 30 June 2007 RZEZLFA=TH
Non-interest bearing s - 20,108 - 20,108 20,108
Variable interest
raise instruments AENEEETA 6.8 945 1,785 2,730 2,612
21,063 1,785 22,838 22,720
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 3. €@TIAw
(B) FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (B) %EEE‘.F:’?E%IEE =K

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) BUR ()

Fair value of financial instruments EMIENAFE

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities W EERMBARN A T ER

are determined as follows: INTAAEE :

() the fair value of financial assets and financial (i) RIREERRIGERE R
liabilities with standard terms and conditions and WERRETIER 5H 5
traded on active liquid markets are determined BEERVEEENAT
with reference to quoted market prices; and BEN2EMBMSERE

E R

(i) the fair value of other financial assets and financial (i) HuHBEERVBEERE
liabilities are determined in accordance with KA ETIART B AIR
generally accepted pricing models based on KI5 R 5 MBS T &
discounted cash flow analysis using prices or EREIRIR M E T RE
rates from observable current market ERHRRFTEEAET -
transactions as input.

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of EEZRE  NEREVBHREARL

financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the BN BEERYFAEENER

consolidated financial statements approximate their fair BHEAFERSE -

values.

33. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS 33. WERKRSBHE

(@)

On 18 September 2008, the Company announced that
the completion of the acquisition of 18% equity interest
in Skyflying Da Zhong Hua Cigarette Limited shall be
postponed to a date on or before 31 December 2008.
Please refer to the Company's announcement of
18 September 2008 for further details.

On 8 September 2008, the Company entered into
subscription agreements in which the Company agreed
to allot 23,800,000 new shares at the subscription price
of HK$0.1269 per share to independent third parties.
Please refer to the Company's announcement of
18 September 2008 for further details.

On 24 September 2008, the Company entered into
another subscription agreements in which the Company
agreed to allot 123,300,000 new shares at the
subscription price of HK$0.095 per share to independent
third parties. Please refer to the Company's
announcement of 26 September 2008 for further details.

(@)

REEYERERLE —== 0 55% 115

RZZZNFAATNAB - AR
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SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION
MBERBE

Year ended 30 June

ARAZTHLEEE
2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
—EZN\F ZET+F —EEXFE —ZTHF —EENF
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TR FET FET FET FHET
Revenue Wz 111,137 104,247 99,988 145,551 139,982
(Loss)/Profit before R P15 30 Al
income tax (E518) & F (9,356) (12,047) (38,788) 3,032 23,131
Income tax expense  FT{SFFAX (679) (174) (987) (766) (2,281)
(Loss)/Profit for KEE
the year (E518) /& F (10,035) (12,221) (39,775) 2,266 20,850
Attributable to: THI AT
Equity holders of KA ERR
the Company BEA (10,225) (12,681) (39,920) 1,271 20,186
Minority interests DER R E S 190 460 145 995 664
(10,035) (12,221) (39,775) 2,266 20,850
At 30 June
RAB=1+H
2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
—EZN\F ZET+F —EEXFE —ZTHF —EENF
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TR FET FET FET FHET
Assets and liabilities EER&&
Total assets BEMBE 84,102 75,357 85,598 128,804 130,482
Total liabilities BEBE (26,292) (31,413) (32,559) (35,420) (33,071)
Minority interests DR R E S (2,099) (1,909) (1,790) (1,891) (1,499)
Equity attributable RAFERFTEA
to equity holders FEAL A
of the Company 55,711 42,035 51,249 91,493 95,912
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